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Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2021
(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalent - reverse repurchase agreements
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Right-of-use assets
Fixed assets, net

116,368,688
125,000,000
5,403,261

December 31,
2020

$

246,771,949
406,014
39,607

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Current portion of credit facility
Current portion of operating lease liabilities

83,059,268
233,310
59,925

$

247,217,570

$

83,352,503

$

467,932
11,252,075
—
222,158

$

381,638
8,134,765
3,659,776
233,310

Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, long-term
Long-term debt
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 14 and 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, voting, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 authorized and 58,045,432
and 38,667,491 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

11,942,165
184,599
15,420,904

12,409,489
—
11,434,456

27,547,668

23,843,945

58,045
498,549,312
—
(278,937,455 )

38,667
296,385,619
—
(236,915,728 )

219,669,902

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

247,217,570

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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52,858,311
25,000,000
5,200,957

59,508,558
$

83,352,503

ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Loss from operations

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

12,894,344
2,546,807

$

2021

6,133,580
2,255,617

$

2020

32,095,132
8,720,161

$

17,653,058
7,480,461

(15,441,151 )

(8,389,197 )

(40,815,293 )

(25,133,519 )

59,306
(413,110 )

5,215
(489,191 )

122,732
(1,329,166 )

287,025
(1,415,055 )

(353,804 )

(483,976 )

(1,206,434 )

(1,128,030 )

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Total other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

(15,794,955 ) $

(8,873,173 ) $

(42,021,727 ) $

(26,261,549 )

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

(0.27 ) $

(0.23 ) $

(0.80 ) $

(0.81 )

58,019,099

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

37,796,946

52,688,846

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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32,395,217

ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax
Total other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss

$

2020

(15,794,955 ) $
—

$

2021

(8,873,173 ) $

2020

(42,021,727 ) $

(4,754 )

—

$

(4,754 ) $

—

(15,794,955 ) $

(8,877,927 ) $

—

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,

(5,866 )
$

(5,866 )

(42,021,727 ) $

(26,267,415 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(26,261,549 )

ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)
Stockholders' Equity
Common Voting Stock

Shares

Balance, December 31, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Release of restrictions on Helio
founders’ shares
Issuance of common stock in connection
with Helio Vision, Inc. acquisition milestone
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs
Issuance of common stock, exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock, employee
stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock, vested
restricted stock awards
Net loss

Accumulated

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Amount

38,667,491

$

38,667

—

—

106,182

106

246,562

247

18,091,947

$

296,385,61
9

—

Accumulated
Deficit

$

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

(236,915,7
28 ) $ 59,508,558

—

—

5,186,689

—

—

—

—

—

18,092

2,499,744
189,793,51
9

—

—

2,499,991
189,811,61
1

634,214

634

4,622,617

—

—

4,623,251

12,092

12

61,517

—

—

61,529

286,944

287

—

(106 )

(287 )

—

—

—

—
$

—

247,409,79
3

$

5,866

Balance, September 30, 2021

58,045,432

$

58,045

Balance, December 31, 2019
Stock-based compensation
Release of restrictions on Helio
founders’ shares
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs
Issuance of common stock,
exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock, employee
stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock, vested
restricted stock awards
Other comprehensive loss

28,656,832

$

28,657

$

Balance, September 30, 2020

$

5,186,689

498,549,31
$
2

Net loss

Other
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss),
net of tax

—

—

237,834

238

9,351,749

9,352

219,244

—
(42,021,727 )

(278,937,4
219,669,90
$
55 ) $
2

$

(199,361,9
99 ) $ 48,082,317

—

—

5,453,520

—

—

—

40,707,191

—

—

40,716,543

219

1,058,297

—

—

1,058,516

30,254

30

126,936

—

—

126,966

135,796
—

136
—

—

—

—

38,632

294,755,36
$
3

38,631,709

$

6

5,453,520

—
(42,021,72
7)

(238 )

(136 )
—

—
(5,866 )
—
$

—

—
—
(26,261,54
9)

—
(5,866 )
(26,261,549 )

(225,623,5
$
48 ) $ 69,170,447

ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)

Stockholders' Equity
Common Voting Stock

Shares

Balance, June 30, 2021
Stock-based compensation
Release of restrictions on Helio
founders’ shares
Issuance of common stock, exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock, employee
stock purchase plan
Net loss

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Amount

57,997,345

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss),
net of tax

Accumulated
Deficit

(263,142,50
0 ) $ 233,679,945

57,997

$ 496,764,448

—

—

—

1,721,134

—

—

1,721,134

35,784

36

—

—

—

2,997

3

12,121

—

—

12,124

9,306
—

9
—

51,645
—

—
—

(36 )

$

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

—
(15,794,955 )

51,654
(15,794,955 )

Balance, September 30, 2021

58,045,432

$

58,045

$ 498,549,312

$

—

$

(278,937,45
5 ) $ 219,669,902

Balance, June 30, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Release of restrictions on Helio
founders’ shares
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs
Issuance of common stock, exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock, vested
restricted stock awards
Other comprehensive loss

32,997,346

$

32,997

$ 269,502,290

$

4,754

$

(216,750,37
5 ) $ 52,789,666

—

—

1,757,479

35,783

36

5,377,681

5,378

204,796
16,103
—
—

Net loss
Balance, September 30, 2020

38,631,709

$

—

—

1,757,479

—

—

—

22,440,677

—

—

22,446,055

205

997,892

—

—

998,097

16
—
—

57,061
—
—

38,632

$ 294,755,363

(36 )

—
(4,754 )
—
$

—

—
—
(8,873,173 )
$

(225,623,54
8 ) $ 69,170,447

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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57,077
(4,754 )
(8,873,173 )

ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash interest expense
Net amortization of premium on debt securities available for sale
Depreciation and amortization expense
Change in assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions of fixed assets
Purchases of marketable securities
Sales and maturities of marketable securities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Net cash provided by financing activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD

2020

(42,021,727 )

$

(26,261,549 )

6,123,554
326,672
—
202,909

5,453,520
424,516
(91,231 )
217,806

(202,304 )
86,294
4,506,394

(212,823 )
(684,402 )
(8,022,095 )

(30,978,208 )

(29,176,258 )

(7,806 )
—
—

—
(5,776,090 )
34,800,000

(7,806 )

29,023,910

189,811,611
4,623,251
61,529

40,716,543
1,058,516
126,966

194,496,391
163,510,377
77,858,311

41,902,025
41,749,677
44,425,830

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD

$

241,368,688

$

86,175,507

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for interest

$

1,011,000

$

1,042,708

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION AND DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES:
Common stock issued in connection with Helio Vision, Inc. acquisition milestone

$

2,499,991

$

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALDEYRA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
1.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc., together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Aldeyra”), a Delaware corporation, is a clinical-stage
biotechnology company devoted to developing and commercializing next-generation medicines to improve the lives of patients with immunemediated diseases.
The Company’s principal activities to date include raising capital and research and development activities.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures are unaudited and have been prepared in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Regulation SX. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements and should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2020, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 11, 2021 (the “2020 Form 10K”).
The financial information as of September 30, 2021, and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, is unaudited.
In the opinion of management all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for the fair presentation of
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows at the dates and for the periods presented, have been included. The balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2020 was derived from audited consolidated financial statements. The results of the Company’s operations for any interim periods are
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other interim period or for a full fiscal year.
Based on its current operating plan, the Company believes that its cash and cash equivalents, as of September 30, 2021, will be sufficient to fund
currently projected operating expenses through the end of 2023, including potential new drug application (“NDA”) submissions; initial
commercialization of reproxalap, if approved; and continued early and late-stage development of our product candidates in ocular and systemic
immune-mediated diseases. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, clinical site availability, staffing, and patient recruitment have been negatively
affected and the timelines to complete the Company’s clinical trials may be delayed. The Company’s assessment of its liquidity and capital resources
includes an estimate of the financial impacts of these changes. The Company will need to secure additional funding in the future, from one or more
equity or debt financings, collaborations, or other sources, in order to carry out all of the Company’s planned research and development activities
and regulatory activities; commercialize product candidates; or conduct any substantial, additional development requirements requested by the Food
and Drug Administration ("FDA"). Additional funding may not be available to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company is unable
to secure additional capital, it will be required to significantly decrease the amount of planned expenditures and may be required to cease operations.
Curtailment of operations would cause significant delays in the Company’s efforts to develop and introduce its products to market, which is critical
to the realization of its business plan and the future operations of the Company.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions, including fair value
estimates for investments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. The Company’s management evaluates its
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Management’s most significant estimates in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
include, but are not limited to, estimates related to clinical trial accruals, estimates related to prepaid and accrued research and development costs,
acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) expense, contingent liabilities, and accounting for income taxes and related valuation
allowance. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the Company’s knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the
future, actual results may ultimately materially differ from these estimates and assumptions.

9

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
There were no changes to significant accounting policies during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the those identified in
the 2020 Form 10-K.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, Financial
Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 requires that
credit losses be reported as an allowance using an expected losses model, representing the entity’s current estimate of credit losses expected to be
incurred. The accounting guidance currently in effect is based on an incurred loss model. For available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized
losses, this standard now requires allowances to be recorded instead of reducing the amortized cost of the investment. The amendments under ASU
2016-13 are effective for interim and annual fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is continuing to evaluate the impact of
ASU 2016-13 but does not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
3.

HELIO VISION ACQUISITION
On January 28, 2019 (the “Closing Date”), the Company acquired Helio Vision, Inc. (“Helio”). As a result of the acquisition, the Company initially
issued an aggregate of 1,160,444 shares of common stock to the former securityholders and an advisor of Helio. The founders of Helio were issued
568,627 shares and non-founders were issued 591,817 shares. The Helio founders’ shares are subject to vesting based on continued service to the
Company over three years from the Closing Date, of which, 92% are vested as of September 30, 2021. The Company recognizes the expense
associated with the founders’ restricted shares as research and development compensation expense on a straight-line basis as the shares vest over the
three-year period. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020, the Company recorded $0.9 million and $1.0 million of
research and development compensation expense, respectively, for the founders’ restricted shares.
In January 2021, pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company issued 246,562 shares of its common stock to the former
securityholders of Helio (the "January Shares"). In addition, the Company, subject to the conditions of the acquisition agreement, is contingently
obligated to make additional payments to the former securityholders of Helio as follows:(a) $10.0 million of common stock following approval by
the FDA of a new drug approval application for the prevention and/or treatment of proliferative vitreoretinopathy or a substantially similar label
prior to the 10th anniversary of the Closing Date; and (b) $2.5 million of common stock following FDA approval of a new drug application for an
indication (other than proliferative vitreoretinopathy) prior to the 12th anniversary of the Closing Date (the shares of common stock issuable
pursuant to the preceding clauses (a) and (b) are referred to herein as the “Milestone Shares”), provided that in no event shall the Company be
obligated to issue more than an aggregate of 5,248,885 shares of common stock. Additionally, in the event of certain change of control or
divestitures by the Company, certain former convertible noteholders of Helio will be entitled to a tax gross-up payment in an amount not to exceed
$1.0 million.
The Company determined that liability accounting is not required for the Milestone Shares under FASB ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities
from Equity (“ASC 480”). The Company also determined that the Milestone Shares meet the scope exception as a derivative under FASB ASC
Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), from inception of the Milestone Shares through September 30, 2021. Accordingly, the Milestone
Shares are evaluated under FASB ASC Topic 450, Contingencies (“ASC 450”) and the Company will record a liability related to the Milestone
Shares if the milestones are achieved, and the obligation to make additional payment(s) becomes probable. At that time, the Company will record
the cost of the Milestone Shares issued to the founders as compensation expense and to the Helio non-founders as IPR&D expense if there is no
alternative future use. At December 31, 2020, the issuance of the January Shares was considered probable and $2.5 million was accrued as
contingent consideration payable in stock and the Company recorded $1.8 million to IPR&D (the “Milestone IPR&D”), which included a $0.5
million income tax benefit, and $1.2 million of compensation expense related to these January Shares, which amounted to 246,562 shares and were
issued during the quarter ended March 31, 2021. No other milestones related to the remaining Milestone Shares are probable of being achieved as of
September 30, 2021.

4.

NET LOSS PER SHARE
As of September 30, 2021 and 2020, diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is equal to basic weighted average common shares due to
the Company’s net loss position.
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The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding,
because such securities had an antidilutive impact:
Three and Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

2020

Options to purchase common stock
Restricted stock units
Nonvested founder shares (1)

4,562,870
501,254
46,674

4,889,685
929,817
188,638

Total of common stock equivalents

5,110,798

6,008,140

(1) Represents 46,674 and 188,638 shares of common stock that are issued and outstanding but that were subject to future vesting based on service
requirements at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are, accordingly, not included in stockholders’ equity.
5.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Cash and cash equivalents, were comprised of:
September 30, 2021
Carrying
Amount

Unrecognized
Gain

Unrecognized
Loss

Estimated
Fair Value

Cash and Cash
Equivalents

Cash
Money market funds
Reverse repurchase agreements

$

111,966,754
4,401,934
125,000,000

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

111,966,754
4,401,934
125,000,000

$

111,966,754
4,401,934
125,000,000

Total Cash and cash equivalents

$

241,368,688

$

—

$

—

$

241,368,688

$

241,368,688

December 31, 2020
Carrying
Amount

Unrecognized
Gain

Unrecognized
Loss

Estimated
Fair Value

Cash and Cash
Equivalents

Cash
Money market funds
Reverse repurchase agreements

$

23,494,920
29,363,391
25,000,000

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

23,494,920
29,363,391
25,000,000

$

23,494,920
29,363,391
25,000,000

Total Cash and cash equivalents

$

77,858,311

$

—

$

—

$

77,858,311

$

77,858,311

There were no marketable securities held at September 30, 2021 or December 31, 2020.

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques
used to measure fair value are performed in a manner to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. ASC
820, Fair Value Measurements, establishes a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable
and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value, which are the following:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the market date for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities;
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs for which all significant inputs are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.
There were no liabilities measured at fair value at September 30, 2021 or December 31, 2020.
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Money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets, are recorded at fair value and considered as Level 1
inputs under the fair value hierarchy.
Reverse repurchase agreements are recorded at fair market value and considered as Level 2 inputs under the fair value hierarchy.
Financial instruments including cash equivalents, clinical trial prepayments to contract research organizations, and accounts payable are carried in
the consolidated financial statements at amounts that approximate their fair value based on the short maturities of those instruments. The carrying
amount of the Company’s term loan under its credit facility approximates market rates currently available to the Company.
7.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses and other current assets were comprised of:
September 30,
2021

8.

December 31,
2020

Deferred research and development expenses
Miscellaneous prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

4,532,903
870,358

$

4,793,794
407,163

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

5,403,261

$

5,200,957

ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses were comprised of:
September 30,
2021

9.

December 31,
2020

Accrued compensation
Contingent consideration payable in stock
Accrued research and development expenses
Accrued general and administrative expenses

$

2,078,896
—
8,644,036
529,143

$

1,323,138
2,500,000
3,944,094
367,533

Total accrued expenses

$

11,252,075

$

8,134,765

CREDIT FACILITY
The Company’s long-term debt obligation consists of amounts the Company is obligated to repay under its credit facility with Hercules Capital, Inc.
(“Hercules”). In March 2019, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Hercules and several banks and other financial
institutions or entities, from time-to-time parties thereto (collectively, referred to as “Lender”), providing for a term loan of up to $60.0 million,
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions contained therein, that is secured by a lien covering all of the Company’s assets, other than the
Company’s intellectual property (the “Loan and Security Agreement” or the “Hercules Credit Facility”). The Loan and Security Agreement
provided for (i) an initial term loan advance of up to $5.0 million at the Company’s option, which expired unutilized on April 15, 2019; (ii) three
additional term loan advances of up to $15.0 million each, at the Company’s option, available to the Company upon the occurrence of certain
funding conditions prior to September 30, 2019 (the “2019 Tranche”), March 31, 2020 (the “2020 Tranche”), and March 31, 2021 (the “2021
Tranche”); and (iii) a final additional term loan advance (the “Fourth Loan Tranche”) of up to $10.0 million prior to December 31, 2021, at the
Company’s option, subject to approval by the Lender’s investment committee. The 2019 Tranche was drawn down in full by the Company in
September 2019 and the 2020 Tranche and 2021 Tranche expired unutilized prior to the Company satisfying the funding conditions for such tranche.
On April 20, 2021, the Company entered into the First Amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the Loan and Security Agreement with Hercules.
The First Amendment, among other things, (i) increased the Fourth Loan Tranche from $10.0 million to $20.0 million and extended the deadline for
drawing down the Fourth Loan Tranche to June 1, 2022; (ii) lowered the variable per annum rate of interest on borrowings under the Loan and
Security Agreement from the greater of (a) 9.10% and (b) the prime rate (as reported in the Wall Street Journal or any successor publication thereto)
plus 3.10% to the greater of (x) the Prime Rate (as defined therein) plus 3.10% or (y) 8.60%; (iii) extended the expiration of the period in which
interest-only payments on borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement are required from May 1, 2021 to July 1, 2022; and (iv) following the
satisfaction of certain conditions in April 2021, further extended the expiration of the interest-only period and the deadline for drawing down the
Fourth Loan Tranche to May 1, 2023. Repayment of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the term loan, in monthly installments,
commences upon expiration of the
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interest-only period and continues through October 1, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The First Amendment was determined to be a modification in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 470, Debt and did not result in extinguishment.

Associated with this debt facility, the Company incurred a commitment charge of $25,000, transaction costs of $273,186, a fee of $375,000 upon
closing, and is required to pay a fee (the “End of Term Charge”) of 6.95% multiplied by the aggregate amount of advances under the Loan and
Security Agreement at maturity. The fees, transaction costs, and the End of Term Charge are amortized to interest expense from 2019 through the
Maturity Date using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate was 10.8% at September 30, 2021. At the Company’s option, the
Company may elect to prepay all, but not less than all, of the outstanding term loan by paying the entire principal balance and all accrued and unpaid
interest thereon plus all fees and other amounts due under the Loan and Security Agreement, including a prepayment charge equal to 1.5% of the
principal amount being prepaid.
Following the effective time of the First Amendment and as of September 30, 2021, an aggregate of $35 million, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Loan and Security Agreement, may be made available to the Company for borrowing, $15 million of which was funded prior to
the date of the First Amendment.
Long-term debt consisted of the following:
September 30,
2021

Term loan payable

$

End of term charge
Unamortized debt issuance costs
Less: current portion

December 31,
2020

15,000,000

$

651,139

445,464

(230,235 )

(351,232 )

—
$

Total long-term debt

15,000,000

(3,659,776 )

15,420,904

$

11,434,456

Future principal payments, including the End of Term Charge, are as follows:
Years Ending
December 31,

2021
2022
2023

$

—
—
16,042,500

Total

$

16,042,500

The Loan and Security Agreement also contains certain events of default, representations, warranties and non-financial covenants of the Company.
As of September 30, 2021, the Company was in material compliance with all covenants of the Hercules Credit Facility. In addition, subject to the
terms of the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company granted the Lender the right to purchase up to an aggregate of $2.0 million of the
Company’s equity securities, or instruments exercisable for or convertible into equity securities, sold to investors in financings upon the same terms
and conditions afforded to such other investors.
10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
In December 2018, the Company entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement SM (“2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC
(“Jefferies”), as sales agent, pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time through Jefferies, shares of common stock
providing for aggregate sales proceeds of up to $50.0 million. The Company had no obligation to sell any shares under the 2018 Jefferies Sales
Agreement, and could at any time suspend solicitations and offers under the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement. From January 1, 2020 through
December 31, 2020, the Company sold, at a volume-weighted average price of $4.62 per share, an aggregate of 9.4 million shares of common stock
with net proceeds of $40.7 million after deducting commissions related to the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement and other offering costs. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company had sold the maximum allowable amount and no further sales may be made under the 2018 Jefferies Sales
Agreement.
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In January 2021, the Company sold 7.9 million shares of its common stock in an underwritten public offering at $9.50 per share, for an aggregate
gross cash purchase price of $74.7 million or proceeds of $70.0 million after underwriters’ discount, commissions, and other offering expenses.
In March 2021, the Company entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement SM (“2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies, as sales agent,
pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time through Jefferies, shares of common stock providing for aggregate sales
proceeds of up to $100.0 million. The Company has no obligation to sell any shares under the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement, and could at any time
suspend solicitations and offers under the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement. No sales had been made pursuant to the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement
as of September 30, 2021.
In May and June 2021, the Company sold an aggregate of 10.2 million shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $12.50 per share, in
an underwritten public offering, for an aggregate gross cash purchase price of $127.8 million or proceeds of $119.8 million after underwriters’
discount and expenses, which included the partial exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares.

11. INCOME TAXES
No provision for federal and state income taxes has been recorded as the Company has incurred losses since inception for tax purposes. Deferred
income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
In assessing the realizability of net deferred taxes in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”),
the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Based on the weight of
available evidence, primarily the incurrence of net losses since inception, anticipated net losses in the near future, reversals of existing temporary
differences, and expiration of various federal and state attributes, the Company does not consider it more likely than not that some or all of the net
deferred taxes will be realized. Accordingly, a 100% valuation allowance has been applied against net deferred taxes.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Section 382"), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is
subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”) and certain other tax assets (tax attributes) to offset future
taxable income. In general, an ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock ownership of certain stockholders increases by more than 50
percentage points over such stockholders’ lowest percentage ownership during the testing period (generally three years). Transactions involving the
Company’s common stock, within the testing period, even those outside the Company’s control, such as purchases or sales by investors, within the
testing period could result in an ownership change. A limitation on the Company’s ability to utilize some or all its NOLs or credits could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows. Prior to December 31, 2017, the Company believes it underwent
three ownership changes, however, management believes there are sufficient “Built-In-Gains” to offset any Section 382 limitation generated by such
ownership changes. Any future ownership changes, including those resulting from the Company’s future financing activities, may cause its existing
tax attributes to incur additional limitations.
All tax years are open for examination by the taxing authorities for both federal and state purposes.
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions pursuant to ASC 740 which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for
financial statement recognition of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. If the tax position meets this threshold, the
benefit to be recognized is measured as the tax benefit having the highest likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing
authority. Accordingly, in the provision for income taxes, the Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and
penalties; however, management is currently unaware of any uncertain tax positions.
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was enacted in the United States on March 27, 2020. CARES includes several
income tax provisions such as NOL carryback and carryforward benefits and other tax deduction benefits. As noted previously, the Company’s U.S.
deferred tax asset has a full valuation, accordingly these NOL and other benefit provisions have no impact on the Company’s financial statements
for the period ended September 30, 2021.
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12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company has two equity incentive plans that provide for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock units,
and performance cash awards to certain employees, members of the board of directors, and consultants of the Company with a generally prescribed
contractual term of ten years. As of September 30, 2021, there were 3,104,303 shares of common stock available for grant under the Company’s
equity incentive plans.
In 2019 and 2020 the Company granted performance cash awards. The performance cash awards vest in four annual installments from the date of
grant and entitle the employees to receive a cash payment, on the earlier of (i) four years from the date of grant or (ii) a change of control, equal in
value to the amount by which the then value of the Company’s common stock exceeds the base value. As of September 30, 2021, $1.3 million was
accrued as compensation expense for vested performance cash awards.
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period. The amounts included in the consolidated statements
of operations relating to stock-based compensation associated with the two equity incentive plans and Helio founders’ shares are as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

2021

2020

Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses

$

696,419
721,917

$

1,236,902
520,577

$

3,069,591
3,053,963

$
$

3,429,592
2,023,928

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

1,418,337

$

1,757,479

$

6,123,554

$

5,453,520

Stock Options
The table below summarizes activity relating to stock options under the incentive plans for the nine months ended September 30, 2021:

Number of
Shares

(a)

Weighted
Average
Contractual
Term

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value(a)

Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeitures

4,608,311
905,169
(634,214 )
(316,396 )

$
$
$

5.73
11.60
7.29

$

5.23

Outstanding at September 30, 2021

4,562,870

$

6.71

6.92

$

11,998,176

Exercisable at September 30, 2021

2,976,765

$

5.81

5.93

$

9,144,100

The aggregate intrinsic value in this table was calculated on the positive difference, if any, between the closing price per share of the Company’s
common stock on September 30, 2021 of $8.78 and the per share exercise price of the underlying options.
As of September 30, 2021, unamortized stock-based compensation for all stock options outstanding was $8,315,227 and is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.56 years. Total unrecognized compensation cost will be adjusted for future forfeitures, if necessary.
Restricted Stock Units
The table below summarizes activity relating to RSUs for the nine months ended September 30, 2021:
Number
of Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted
Cancelled
Vested

927,189
46,619
(185,610 )
(286,944 )

Outstanding at September 30, 2021

501,254
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The weighted-average fair value of RSUs granted was $11.71 per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021,
the outstanding RSUs had unamortized stock-based compensation of $2.0 million with a weighted-average remaining recognition period of 2.07
years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $4.4 million.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
At September 30, 2021, the Company had 1,233,557 shares available for issuance under the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2016 ESPP”). A
summary of the weighted-average grant-date fair value, and total stock-based compensation expense recognized related to the 2016 ESPP are as
follows:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

Weighted-average grant-date fair value per share
Total stock-based compensation expense

2020

$
$

4.27
36,212

$
$

1.58
37,604

13. LEASES
The Company currently leases an office used to conduct business. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Company’s discretion and the
renewal to extend the lease terms are not included in the Company’s Right-Of-Use assets and lease liabilities as they are not reasonably certain of
exercise. The Company regularly evaluates the renewal options and when they are reasonably certain of exercise, the Company includes the renewal
period in its lease term. As the Company’s lease does not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the
information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of the lease payments. In August 2021, the Company entered
into a lease amendment extending the lease by 18 months through June 30, 2023, which had an immaterial impact to the balance sheet as of
September 30, 2021.
As of September 30, 2021, the Company maintained an unamortized Right-Of-Use asset with a corresponding operating lease liability of
approximately $0.4 million based on the present value of the minimum rental payments in accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases. The weighted
average discount rate used for leases as of September 30, 2021 is 9.1%. The weighted average lease term as of September 30, 2021 is 1.75 years.
The operating lease expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $0.2 million. Maturities and balance sheet presentation of our lease
liabilities for all operating leases as of September 30, 2021 is as follows:
2021 remaining total lease payments

$

441,835
(35,078 )

Present value of lease liabilities

$

406,757

Current operating lease liabilities

$

222,158
184,599

$

406,757

Less: effect of discounting

Non-current operating lease liabilities
Total

The Company’s gross future minimum payments under all non-cancelable operating leases as of September 30, 2021, are:
Total

Operating lease obligations

$

441,835

2021

$

60,782

2022

$

252,477

2023

$

128,576

2024

$

—

14. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of its business, the Company may be involved in various legal proceedings involving contractual and employment
relationships, patent or other intellectual property rights, and a variety of other matters. The Company is not aware of any pending legal proceedings
that would reasonably be expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
There have been no material changes to the Company’s commitments and contingencies from the information provided in Note 14, Commitments
and Contingencies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in the Company’s 2020 Form 10-K.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Various statements throughout this report are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Forward-looking statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this
report regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management
are forward-looking statements. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and are based on information currently available to our
management. Words such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “contemplates,” “predict,” “project,”
“target,” “likely,” “potential,” “continue,” “ongoing,” “design,” “might,” “objective,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” or the negative of these terms and
similar expressions or words, identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on
assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The
events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking statements may not occur and actual results could differ materially from those projected in our
forward-looking statements. Meaningful factors which could cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to:
the timing of enrollment, commencement, and completion of our clinical trials;
the timing and success of preclinical studies and clinical trials conducted by us and our development partners;
delay in or failure to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates, including as a result of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(“FDA”) not accepting our regulatory filings or requiring additional clinical trials or data prior to review or approval of such filings;
the ability to maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates, and the labeling for any approved products;
the risk that prior results, such as signals of safety, activity or durability of effect observed from preclinical or clinical trials, will not be
replicated or will not continue in ongoing or future studies or trials involving our product candidates;
the scope, progress, expansion, and costs of developing and commercializing our product candidates;
the current and potential future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations and financial position;
uncertainty as to our ability to commercialize (alone or with others) our product candidates following regulatory approval, if any;
the size and growth of the potential markets and pricing for our product candidates and the ability to serve those markets;
our expectations regarding our expenses and revenue, the sufficiency or use of our cash resources and needs for additional financing;
the rate and degree of market acceptance of any of our product candidates;
our expectations regarding competition;
our anticipated growth strategies;
our ability to attract or retain key personnel;
our limited sales and marketing infrastructure;
our ability to establish and maintain development partnerships;
our ability to successfully integrate acquisitions into our business;
our expectations regarding federal, state, and foreign regulatory requirements;
political, economic, legal, social and health risks, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent public health measures, that may
affect our business or the global economy;
regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;
our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product candidates; and
the anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the market in which we operate.
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All written and verbal forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the
cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. We caution investors not to rely too heavily on the forward-looking statements we make or
that are made on our behalf. We undertake no obligation, and specifically decline any obligation, to update or revise publicly any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on
related subjects in any annual, quarterly or current reports that we may file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
We encourage you to read “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors,” as well
as our unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. We also encourage you to read our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, which was filed with the SEC on March 11, 2021 (“2020 Annual Report”), which contains a more
complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business. In addition to the risks described above and in our 2020 Annual Report,
other unknown or unpredictable factors also could affect our results. Therefore, the information in this report should be read together with other reports and
documents that we file with the SEC from time to time, including Forms 10-Q, 8-K and 10-K, which may supplement, modify, supersede or update those
risk factors. There can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by us will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that our
results will lead to the expected consequences or effects. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the outcomes stated in such forward-looking
statements and estimates will be achieved.
Overview
Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc., including its wholly-owned subsidiaries (we, us, or the Company), is a clinical-stage biotechnology company devoted to
developing and commercializing next-generation medicines to improve the lives of patients with immune-mediated diseases.
Our lead product candidate, reproxalap, is a first-in-class treatment in Phase 3 clinical development for dry eye disease (“DED”) and allergic
conjunctivitis (“AC”). We have additional product candidates in development for systemic immune-mediated diseases, proliferative vitreoretinopathy
(“PVR”) and other retinal diseases, autoimmune disease, and cancer. We currently intend to commercialize our products directly or through collaborations.
None of our product candidates have been approved for sale in the United States or elsewhere.
As we continue to execute on our strategy of expanding our product candidate pipeline, we may license or acquire new immune-modulating
approaches with novel therapeutic potential. In January 2019, we acquired Helio Vision, Inc. (“Helio”) and thereby obtained rights to ADX-2191, an
intravitreal DHFR inhibitor (methotrexate) for the prevention of PVR, a serious sight-threatening retinal disease with no approved treatment, and primary
vitreoretinal lymphoma (“PVRL”), a rare cancer with no approved treatment. In addition, in December 2016, we in-licensed ADX-1612, which inhibits the
protein chaperome, a mechanistically differentiated approach for the potential treatment of inflammatory diseases. In the future, we may enter into
additional partnerships that facilitate the development and commercialization of our product candidates.
All of our development plans and timelines are subject to adjustment depending on recruitment rate, regulatory review, preclinical and clinical
results, funding, and other factors that could delay the initiation, completion, or reporting of clinical trials.
We have no products approved for sale. We will not receive any revenue from any product candidates that we develop until we obtain regulatory
approval and commercialize such products or until we potentially enter into agreements with third parties for the development and commercialization of
product candidates. In addition, it may be difficult or not possible to obtain from the FDA orphan drug designation or a designation that facilitates and
expedites development and review of certain new drugs, including breakthrough therapy designation, fast track designation or any other expedited status
that we may apply for in the future, for reproxalap or our other product candidates, and if we are unable to obtain such designations, our regulatory and
commercial prospects may be negatively impacted. If our development efforts for any of our product candidates result in regulatory approval or we enter
into collaboration agreements with third parties, we may generate revenue from product sales or from such third parties. We have primarily funded our
operations through the sale of our common stock, convertible preferred stock, convertible promissory notes, warrants, and borrowings under our debt
facilities.
In December 2018, we entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement SM (“2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”), as
sales agent, pursuant to which we offered and sold, shares of our common stock, for aggregate sales proceeds of $50.0 million from time to time through
Jefferies. From January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, we sold, at a volume-weighted average price of $4.62, an aggregate of 9.4 million shares of
common stock with net proceeds of $40.7 million after deducting commissions related to the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement and other offering costs. As of
December 31, 2020, we had sold the maximum allowable amount and no further sales may be made under the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement.
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In January 2021, we sold 7.9 million shares of our common stock in an underwritten public offering at $9.50 per share, for an aggregate gross cash
purchase price of $74.7 million or proceeds of $70.0 million after underwriters’ discount, commissions, and other offering expenses.
In March 2021, we entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement SM (“2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies, as sales agent, pursuant to
which we may offer and sell, from time to time through Jefferies, shares of common stock providing for aggregate sales proceeds of up to $100.0 million.
We have no obligation to sell any shares under the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement, and could at any time suspend solicitations and offers under the 2021
Jefferies Sales Agreement. No sales had been made pursuant to the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement as of September 30, 2021.
In May and June 2021, we sold an aggregate of 10.2 million shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $12.50 per share, in an
underwritten public offering, for an aggregate gross cash purchase price of $127.8 million or proceeds of approximately $119.8 million after underwriters’
discount, commissions, and other offering expenses, which included the partial exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares.
On January 28, 2019, we acquired Helio. As a result of the acquisition, we have issued an aggregate of 1,407,006 shares of common stock to the
former securityholders and an advisor of Helio. We, subject to the conditions of the acquisition agreement, will be obligated to make additional payments to
the former securityholders of Helio as follows: (a) $10.0 million of common stock following approval by the FDA of a new drug approval application for
the prevention and/or treatment of PVR or a substantially similar label prior to the 10th anniversary of the closing date; and (b) $2.5 million of common
stock following FDA of a new drug approval application for an indication (other than PVR or a substantially similar label) prior to the 12th anniversary of
the closing date, provided that in no event shall we be obligated to issue more than 5,248,885 shares of common stock. Additionally, in the event of certain
change of control or divestitures by us, certain former convertible noteholders of Helio will be entitled to a tax gross-up payment in an amount not to
exceed $1.0 million.
In March 2019, we entered into the Hercules Credit Facility, which provided for a term loan of up to $60.0 million, $15.0 million of which has been
drawn-down as of September 30, 2021. In April 2021, the Hercules Credit Facility was amended to, among other things, increase the amount which may
become available for draw-down prior to May 2023, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions contained therein, from $10.0 million to $20.0 million.
The loan agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. Affirmative covenants include, among others, covenants
requiring us to maintain our legal existence and governmental approvals, deliver certain financial reports, and maintain insurance coverage. Negative
covenants include, among others: restrictions on transferring any part of our business or intellectual property; incurring additional indebtedness; engaging
in mergers or acquisitions; paying dividends or making other distributions; making investments; and creating other liens on our assets, in each case subject
to customary exceptions. The Hercules Credit Facility, as amended, is described in Note 9 to the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. As of September 30, 2021, $15.0 million was outstanding under the Hercules Credit Facility, and no
additional amounts were available for borrowing.
We will need to raise additional capital in the form of debt or equity or through partnerships to fund additional development of reproxalap and our
other product candidates and, subject to regulatory approval, if any, the commercialization of our product candidates, and we may in-license, acquire, or
invest in complementary businesses or products. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise capital on commercially reasonable terms
or at all. In addition, contingent on capital resources, we may augment, diminish, or otherwise modify our clinical development plans.
Research and development expenses
We expense all of our research and development expenses as they are incurred. Research and development costs that are paid in advance of
performance are capitalized as a prepaid expense until incurred. Research and development expenses primarily include:
non-clinical development, preclinical research, and clinical trial and regulatory-related costs;
expenses incurred under agreements with sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials; and
employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel, and stock-based compensation expense.
Substantially all of our research and development expenses to date have been incurred in connection with reproxalap. We expect our research and
development expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as we advance reproxalap and other compounds through preclinical and clinical development.
The process of conducting clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming. We are unable to estimate with any certainty
the costs we will incur in the continued development of reproxalap and our other product candidates. Clinical development timelines, the probability of
success, and development costs can differ materially
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from expectations. We may never succeed in achieving marketing approval for our product candidates. The costs of clinical trials may vary significantly
over the life of a project owing to but not limited to the following:
per patient trial costs;
the number of sites included in the trials;
the countries in which the trials are conducted;
delays of, or other effects on, clinical trials resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic or for other reasons;
the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;
the design of the trials;
the cost of drug manufacturing;
the number of patients that participate in the trials;
the number of doses that patients receive;
the costs of assay development, assays, or other assessment of clinical trial endpoints;
the cost of vehicle or active comparative agents used in trials;
the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;
potential additional safety monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;
the duration of patient follow-up;
the phase of development the product candidate is in; and
the efficacy and safety profile of our product candidates.
Included in research and development are expenses associated with asset acquisitions. Assets purchased in an asset acquisition transaction are
expensed as in-process research and development unless the assets acquired are deemed to have an alternative future use. Acquired in-process research and
development payments are immediately expensed, and include upfront payments, as well as transaction fees and subsequent milestone payments.
Development costs incurred after the asset acquisition are expensed as incurred.
We do not expect reproxalap or any of our other product candidates to be commercially available, if at all, before at least 2023.
General and administrative expenses
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 our general and administrative expenses consisted primarily of employee-related
expenses, including benefits and stock-based compensation for our full-time employees. Other general and administrative expenses include insurance
premiums and professional fees for auditing, tax, and legal services, including patent-related costs. We expect that general and administrative expenses will
increase in the future as we expand our operating activities, continue to incur additional costs associated with being a publicly-traded company, and
maintain compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements. These increases will likely include higher consulting costs, legal fees, accounting fees,
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance premiums, and fees associated with investor relations.
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expense) consists primarily of interest income we earn on interest-bearing accounts and interest expense incurred on our
outstanding debt.
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity from transactions and other events and/or circumstances from non-owner sources. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2021, comprehensive loss is equal to our net loss of $42.0 million and no unrealized loss on marketable securities. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2020, comprehensive loss is equal to our net loss of $26.3 million and an unrealized loss on marketable securities of
approximately $5.9 thousand.
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Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the
reported periods. We evaluate these estimates and judgements on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the notes to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited financials in our 2020 Annual Report, not all of these significant accounting policies require that we make
estimates and assumptions that we believe are critical accounting policies.
There were no changes to our critical accounting policies during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, including estimates, assumptions, and
judgments as compared to those described in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our
2020 Annual Report. It is important that the discussion of our operating results that follow be read in conjunction with the critical accounting policies
disclosed in our 2020 Annual Report.
COVID-19
We are closely monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the emergence and spread of variants of COVID-19, on all aspects of
our business, including how the pandemic continues to impact our employees, clinical trials, development programs, supply chain, and other aspects of our
operations. For example, patient enrollment in our adaptive trial in proliferative vitreoretinopathy ("GUARD") continues to be negatively impacted as a
result of limited clinical trial staffing at study sites and some patients electing to delay surgery. While the COVID-19 pandemic did not have a material
adverse effect on our reported results for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact that the pandemic may
have on our business, future results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. The extent to which our operations may be impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic will depend largely on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, including new information which
may emerge concerning the severity of the outbreak, including the emergence and spread of variants of COVID-19, such as the delta variant, and actions by
government authorities to contain the outbreak. Furthermore, the impact of a potential worsening of global economic conditions and the effects of the
continued disruptions to and volatility in the financial markets remain unknown.
Results of Operations
We anticipate that our results of operations will fluctuate for the foreseeable future due to several factors, including the progress of our research and
development efforts, the timing and outcome of clinical trials, and regulatory requirements. Our limited operating history makes predictions of future
operations difficult or impossible. Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 compared to three months ended September 30, 2020
Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses were $12.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021,
compared to $6.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase of $6.8 million is primarily related to the increase in our clinical
research and development expenditures and consulting costs, partially offset by decreases in personnel related costs, including stock-based compensation,
and manufacturing activities.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses were $2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021,
compared to $2.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020. The increase of $0.2 million is primarily due to an increase in miscellaneous
administrative costs.
Other income (expense). Total other income (expense), net, was $(0.4) million and $(0.5) million for the three months ended September 30, 2021
and 2020, respectively and was principally comprised of interest income and interest expense for both periods.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2020
Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses were $32.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021,
compared to $ 17.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase of $14.4 million is primarily related to increases in our clinical
research and development expenditures and consulting costs, partially offset by decreases in personnel related costs, including stock-based compensation,
and manufacturing activities.
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General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses were $8.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021,
compared to $ 7.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase of $1.2 million is primarily related to increases in personnel related
costs, including stock-based compensation, and legal and insurance costs.
Other income (expense). Total other income (expense), net was $(1.2) million and $(1.1) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and
September 30, 2020, respectively and was principally comprised of interest income and interest expense for both periods.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have funded our operations primarily from the sale of equity securities and convertible equity securities and borrowings under credit facilities.
Since inception, we have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities and have devoted substantially all our efforts to
research and development. At September 30, 2021, we had total stockholders’ equity of approximately $219.7 million, and cash and cash equivalents of
$241.4 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we had a net loss of approximately $42.0 million. We expect to generate operating
losses for the foreseeable future.
In December 2018, we entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement SM (“2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”), as
sales agent, pursuant to which we offered and sold, shares of our common stock for aggregate sales proceeds of $50.0 million from time to time through
Jefferies. From January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, we sold, at a volume-weighted average price of $4.62, an aggregate of 9.4 million shares of
common stock with net proceeds of $40.7 million after deducting commissions related to the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement and other offering costs. As of
December 31, 2020, we had sold the maximum allowable amount and no further sales may be made under the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement.
In January 2021, we closed an underwritten public offering in which we sold an aggregate of 7.9 million shares of common stock at $9.50 per share.
The net proceeds of the offering were approximately $70.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions, and other offering expenses.
In March 2021, we entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement SM (“2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies, as sales agent, pursuant to
which we may offer and sell, from time to time through Jefferies, shares of common stock providing for aggregate sales proceeds of up to $100.0 million.
We have no obligation to sell any shares under the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement, and could at any time suspend solicitations and offers under the 2021
Jefferies Sales Agreement. No sales had been made pursuant to the 2021 Jefferies Sales Agreement as of September 30, 2021.
In May and June 2021, we sold an aggregate of 10.2 million shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $12.50 per share, in an
underwritten public offering, for an aggregate gross cash purchase price of $127.8 million or proceeds of approximately $119.8 million after underwriters’
discount, commissions, and other offering expenses, which included the partial exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares.
In March 2019, we entered into the Hercules Credit Facility (“The Loan and Security Agreement”), pursuant to which a term loan of up to an
aggregate principal amount of $60.0 million may be made available to us. The Loan and Security Agreement provides for (i) an initial term loan advance of
up to $5.0 million at our option, which expired unutilized on April 15, 2019; (ii) three additional term loan advances of up to $15.0 million each, at our
option, available to us upon the occurrence of certain funding conditions prior to September 30, 2019 (the “2019 Tranche”), March 31, 2020 (the “2020
Tranche”), and March 31, 2021 (the “2021 Tranche”); and (iii) a final additional term loan advance (the “Fourth Loan Tranche”) of up to $10.0 million
prior to December 31, 2021, at our option, subject to approval by Lender’s investment committee. We drew down the 2019 Tranche in full in September
2019 and the 2020 Tranche and the 2021 Tranche expired unutilized prior to us satisfying the funding conditions for such tranche. As of September 30,
2021, we had not satisfied the funding conditions for the Fourth Loan Tranche. On April 20, 2021, we entered into the First Amendment (the “First
Amendment”) to Loan and Security Agreement with Hercules. The First Amendment among other things, (i) increased the Fourth Loan Tranche from
$10.0 million to $20.0 million and extended the deadline for drawing down the Fourth Loan Tranche to July 1, 2022; (ii) lowered the variable per annum
rate of interest on borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement to the greater of (a) the Prime Rate plus 3.10% or (b) 8.60%; (iii) extended the
expiration of the period in which interest-only payments on borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement are required from May 1, 2021 to July 1,
2022; and (iv) following the satisfaction of certain conditions in April 2021, further extended the expiration of the interest-only period and the deadline for
drawing down the Fourth Loan Tranche to May 1, 2023.
The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. Affirmative covenants include,
among others, covenants requiring us to maintain our legal existence and governmental approvals, deliver certain financial reports, and maintain insurance
coverage. Negative covenants include, among others: restrictions on transferring any part of
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our business or intellectual property; incurring additional indebtedness; engaging in mergers or acquisitions; paying dividends or making other
distributions; making investments; and creating other liens on our assets, in each case subject to customary exceptions. As of September 30, 2021, $15.0
million was outstanding under the Hercules Credit Facility, and no additional amounts were available for borrowing.
Following the effective time of the First Amendment, an aggregate of $35 million, subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan and Security
Agreement, may be made available to the Company for borrowing, $15 million of which was funded prior to the date of the First Amendment.
Based on our current operating plan, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents, as of September 30, 2021, will be sufficient to fund currently
projected operating expenses through the end of 2023, including potential NDA submissions; initial commercialization of reproxalap, if approved; and
continued early and late-stage development of our product candidates in ocular and systemic immune-mediated diseases. We will need to secure additional
funding in the future, from one or more equity or debt financings, collaborations, or other sources, in order to carry out all of our planned research and
development activities, commercialize our product candidates, or conduct any substantial additional development requirements requested by the FDA. At
this time, due to the risks inherent in the drug development process, we are unable to estimate with any certainty the costs we will incur in the continued
clinical development of reproxalap and our other product candidates. Subsequent trials initiated at a later date will cost considerably more, depending on
the results of our prior clinical trials, and feedback from the FDA or other third parties. Accordingly, we will continue to require substantial additional
capital to continue our clinical development and potential commercialization activities. The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will
depend on many factors, including but not limited to:
the progress, costs, results, and timing of our clinical development program for reproxalap and our other product candidates, including our
current and planned clinical trials;
the need for, and the progress, costs, and results of, any additional clinical trials of reproxalap or our other product candidates that we may
initiate based on the results of our planned clinical trials or discussions with the FDA, including any additional trials the FDA or other
regulatory agencies may require evaluating the efficacy and safety of reproxalap and our other product candidates;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on clinical trial initiation and enrollment and other aspects of our business, results of operations, and
financial position;
the outcome, costs, and timing of seeking and obtaining regulatory approvals from the FDA, and any similar regulatory agencies;
the timing and costs associated with manufacturing reproxalap and our other product candidates for clinical trials and other studies and, if
approved, for commercial sale;
our need and ability to hire additional management, development, and scientific personnel;
the cost to maintain, expand, and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the amount and timing of any payments we
may be required to make, or that we may receive, in connection with licensing, filing, prosecuting, defending, and enforcing of any patents or
other intellectual property rights;
the timing and costs associated with establishing sales and marketing infrastructure;
market acceptance of reproxalap and our other product candidates;
the costs of acquiring, licensing, or investing in additional businesses, products, product candidates, and technologies; and
our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems.
We may need or desire to obtain additional capital to finance our operations through debt, equity, or alternative financing arrangements. We may
also seek capital through collaborations or partnerships with other companies. The issuance of debt could require us to grant additional liens on certain of
our assets that may limit our flexibility. If we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, the terms and prices for these financings may be much
more favorable to the new investors than the terms obtained by our existing stockholders. These financings also may significantly dilute the ownership of
our existing stockholders. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If
we are unable to obtain additional financing, we may be required to reduce the scope of our future activities which could harm our business, financial
condition, and operating results. There can be no assurance that any additional financing required in the future will be available on acceptable terms, if at
all.
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We will continue to incur costs as a public company, including, but not limited to, costs and expenses for directors fees; increased directors and
officers insurance; investor relations fees; expenses for compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related to rules implemented by the SEC and
Nasdaq, on which our common stock is listed; and various other costs. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we maintain effective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controls.
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

2020

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

(30,978,208 ) $
(7,806 )
194,496,391

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

163,510,377

$

(29,176,258 )
29,023,910
41,902,025
41,749,677

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $31.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to net cash
used in operating activities of $29.2 million for the same period in 2020. The primary use of cash was to fund our operations. The increase in the amount of
cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to 2020 was principally comprised of changes in accrued
expenses, due to the timing of payments for research and development expenses, and an increase in our net loss, primarily from research and development
activities, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $7.8 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, and $29.0 million
provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. There were no significant investing activities for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021. The primary source of net cash provided by investing activities was the sales and maturities, and purchases of marketable securities
for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $194.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to
$41.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021
was primarily related to the January and May 2021 public offerings, under which we sold an aggregate of 18.1 million shares of our common stock with net
proceeds of $189.8 million after deducting commissions and other offering costs. In addition, we received $4.6 million from the proceeds from the exercise
of stock options during the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30,
2020 was primarily related to the 2018 Jefferies Sales Agreement, under which we sold an aggregate of 9,351,749 shares of our common stock with net
proceeds of $40.7 million after deducting commissions and other offering costs.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Through September 30, 2021, we have not entered into and did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial collaborations,
such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating offbalance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purpose.
Contractual Obligations
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not required to provide the
information under this item.
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Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest rates
Our exposure to market risk is currently confined to our cash, our cash equivalents, our marketable securities (if any), and our Hercules Credit
Facility. We have not used derivative financial instruments for speculation or trading purposes. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash, cash
equivalents, and marketable securities, we do not believe that an increase in market rates would have any significant impact on the realized value of our
investments. Our Hercules Credit Facility accrues interest from its date of issue at a variable annual interest rate equal to the greater of (i) 8.60% and (ii)
the prime rate (as reported in the Wall Street Journal or any successor publication thereto) plus 3.10%. As of September 30, 2021, $15.0 million was
outstanding under the Hercules Credit Facility.
Effects of inflation
Inflation has not had a material impact on our results of operations.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer, we
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on our management’s evaluation (with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer), as of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer
and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during
the period covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We currently are
not a party to any threatened or pending material litigation and do not have contingency reserves established for any litigation liabilities. However, third
parties might allege that we are infringing their patent rights or that we are otherwise violating their intellectual property rights, including trade names and
trademarks. Such third parties may resort to litigation. We accrue contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made, and such
expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Our business is subject to numerous risks. You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information set forth in
this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, which could materially affect our business, financial condition, and future results. The risks described below are not
the only risks facing our company. Risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.
Summary of Risks Related to our Business
Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of
the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below and
should be carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission before making investment decisions regarding our common stock.
Our business is dependent in large part on the success of a single product candidate, reproxalap, for which we are researching multiple
indications. We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, reproxalap.
To generate revenue, we will depend on FDA approval of our lead product candidate, reproxalap for the potential treatment of dry eye disease. If
we are unable to successfully conduct the TRANQUILITY and TRANQUILITY-2 trials, prepare and timely submit the planned NDA for this
product candidate and obtain FDA approval, our ability to generate revenue will be significantly delayed.
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. We may never
become profitable or, if achieved, be able to sustain profitability.
We will require substantial additional financing, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could
force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development, other operations or commercialization efforts.
Reproxalap and our other product candidates are subject to extensive regulation, compliance with which is costly and time consuming, and such
regulation may cause unanticipated delays, or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our product candidates.
If our competitors develop treatments for the target indications of our product candidates that are approved more quickly than ours, marketed
more successfully, or demonstrated to be safer or more effective than our product candidates, our commercial opportunity will be reduced or
eliminated.
If we fail to develop and commercialize our product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business.
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If any third party does not meet our deadlines or otherwise conduct the trials as required and
in accordance with regulations, our clinical development programs could be delayed or unsuccessful and we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for or commercialize our product candidates when expected, or at all.
Public health emergencies, epidemics or pandemics, such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic impact our business.
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Risks Related to our Business
Our business is dependent in large part on the success of a single product candidate, reproxalap, for which we are researching multiple indications. We
cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, reproxalap.
Our product candidates, including reproxalap, will require additional preclinical studies, substantial clinical development and testing, and regulatory
approval prior to commercialization. We have not yet completed development of any product candidate. We have only one product candidate that has been
the focus of significant clinical development: reproxalap, a novel small molecule chemical entity that is believed inhibit RASP, toxic chemical species
suspected to cause and exacerbate numerous diseases in humans and animals. We are dependent in large part on successful continued development and
ultimate regulatory approval of reproxalap for our future business success. Any negative results or perceived negative results in clinical trials for one
indication may have an adverse effect on our ability to develop and potentially commercialize reproxalap for the treatment of another indication. We have
invested, and will continue to invest, a significant portion of our time and financial resources in the development of reproxalap. We will need to raise
sufficient funds for, and successfully enroll and complete, our current and planned clinical trials of reproxalap and our other product candidates. The future
regulatory and commercial success of our product candidates is subject to a number of risks, including the following:
we may not have sufficient financial and other resources to pursue our business plans and complete necessary clinical trials;
we may not be able to provide sufficient evidence of safety and efficacy to continue a development program or obtain regulatory approval;
the results of our clinical trials may not meet the endpoints, or level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA, or comparable
foreign regulatory bodies, for marketing approval;
the safety and efficacy results of our later phase or larger clinical trials may not confirm the results of our earlier trials;
patients in our clinical trials may demonstrate greater response rates or improvements from vehicle or in the non-treatment arm then was
expected when designing and powering our clinical trials;
there may be variability in patients, adjustments to clinical trial procedures and inclusion of additional clinical trial sites;
the initial parts of adaptive clinical trials are not designed to be pivotal or definitive, as such we may not satisfy the designated endpoints and
also may need to revise the design or endpoints to achieve success in later parts of the trial or potentially abandon the trial;
we may not be able to timely or adequately finalize the design or formulation of any product candidate or demonstrate that a formulation of
our product candidate will be stable for commercially reasonable time periods;
the FDA, or comparable foreign regulatory bodies, may implement new standards, or change the interpretation of existing standards or
requirements for the regulatory approval, in general or with respect to the indications our product candidates are being developed to treat;
the FDA, or comparable foreign bodies, may require clinical data in addition to the clinical trial programs we expect or may require changes
to the designs and endpoints of the subsequent clinical trials;
patients in clinical trials for our product candidates may suffer adverse effects or die for reasons that may or may not be related to our product
candidates;
if approved for certain diseases, our product candidates will compete with well-established and other products or therapeutic options already
approved for marketing by the FDA, or comparable foreign regulatory bodies;
we may be adversely affected by legislative or regulatory reform of the health care system in the United States or other jurisdictions in which
we may do business; and
we may not be able to obtain, maintain, or enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights.
Of the large number of drugs in development in the pharmaceutical industry, only a small percentage result in the submission of an NDA to the
FDA, and even fewer are approved for commercialization. We are currently planning to submit NDAs to the FDA for reproxalap in dry eye disease and
allergic conjunctivitis by early 2022, assuming positive clinical trial results. Even if our trials are successful, we can provide no assurances that the FDA
will accept these NDAs for review. Moreover, even if FDA does accept our NDAs for review, there can be no assurance that FDA will agree with our
interpretation of the data, that FDA will not require us to conduct additional clinical trials or provide additional data, or that FDA will approve our NDAs in
a timely fashion, or at all.
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Furthermore, even if we do receive regulatory approval to market reproxalap and our other product candidates, any such approval may be subject to
limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product. Accordingly, even if we are able to obtain the requisite financing to continue to
fund our development programs, we cannot assure that reproxalap and our other product candidates will be successfully developed or commercialized. If
we or any of our future development partners are unable to develop, or obtain regulatory approval for or, if approved, successfully commercialize,
reproxalap and our other product candidates, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to continue our business.
To generate revenue, we will depend on FDA approval of our lead product candidate, reproxalap for the potential treatment of dry eye disease. If we
are unable to successfully conduct the TRANQUILITY and TRANQUILITY-2 trials, prepare and timely submit the planned NDA for this product
candidate and obtain FDA approval, our ability to generate revenue will be significantly delayed.
Our ability to generate revenue will depend on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of reproxalap. Based on
our discussions with and our interpretation of feedback from the FDA, as well as run-in cohort data from the TRANQUILITY trial, we currently plan to
submit an NDA to the FDA for reproxalap for the potential treatment of dry eye disease by early 2022, subject to positive clinical trial results. There can be
no assurance that we can prepare and submit an NDA in a timely manner or at all. We have limited experience in preparing, filing, and pursuing
applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals. The preparation of an NDA requires a great deal of effort and expertise, and if we do not secure the
necessary resources and hire and retain personnel having the requisite expertise to prepare and submit the NDA, the filing of the NDA would be delayed.
Further, if an NDA is submitted by the company, there can be no assurance that it will be accepted for filing by the FDA. If the FDA determines after an
initial review of the NDA that the data included in the application is insufficient and not ready for formal consideration, we could receive a “refuse to file”
notice. The FDA has substantial discretion in the approval process and may disagree with our interpretation of or the sufficiency of the data from our
clinical trials. The FDA could also require that we conduct additional studies and submit that data before it will reconsider our application, which would
require us to expend more resources than we planned or that are available to us, and could substantially delay any approval of our application. If the FDA is
not satisfied with data included in our NDA, we may need to expend additional resources or conduct additional studies, including clinical trials, to obtain
data that the FDA believes is sufficient. It is also possible that additional studies may not suffice to make our application approvable. Even if the NDA is
accepted for filing by the FDA, there can be no assurance that it would be approved in a timely manner or at all.
Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other
personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from
performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.
The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels,
ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the
agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may
rely, including those that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.
Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies, including as a result of or in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, may also slow the time necessary for
new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last
several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough critical
FDA, SEC and other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the
ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, in our
operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to
properly capitalize and continue our operations.
In order to commercialize our product candidates, we will need to substantially grow the size of our organization. We may encounter difficulties in
managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.
Because, as of September 30, 2021, we only had 11 full-time employees, we will need to grow our organization to continue development and pursue
the potential commercialization of reproxalap and our other product candidates, as well as function as a public company. As we seek to advance reproxalap
and other product candidates towards potential commercialization, increase the number of ongoing product development programs, and advance our future
product candidates through preclinical studies and clinical trials, we will need to expand our financial, development, regulatory, manufacturing, marketing,
and sales capabilities, or contract with third parties to provide these capabilities for us. As our operations expand, we expect that we will need to manage
additional relationships with various strategic partners, suppliers, and other third parties. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on
members of management and require us to retain additional internal capabilities. Our future financial performance
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and our ability to commercialize our product candidates and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth
effectively. To that end, we must be able to manage our development efforts and clinical trials effectively and hire, train, and integrate additional
management, clinical and regulatory, financial, administrative and sales, and marketing personnel. We may not be able to accomplish these tasks, and our
failure to so accomplish could prevent us from successfully growing our company.
We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management team and certain key consultants.
As a company with a limited number of personnel, we are highly dependent on the development, regulatory, commercial, and financial expertise of
our senior management team composed of three individuals and certain other employees: Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive
Officer; Joshua Reed, M.B.A., our Chief Financial Officer; and Stephen G. Machatha, Ph.D., our Chief Development Officer. In addition, we rely on the
services of a number of key consultants, including IP, pharmacokinetic, chemistry, toxicology, and drug development consultants. The loss of such
individuals or the services of future members of our management team could delay or prevent the further development and potential commercialization of
our product candidates and, if we are not successful in finding suitable replacements, could harm our business.
If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key commercial personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop or commercialize our
product candidates.
We will need to expand and effectively manage our managerial, operational, financial, and other resources in order to successfully pursue our
clinical development and commercialization efforts. Our success also depends on our continued ability to attract, retain, and motivate highly qualified
management and scientific personnel, and we may not be able to do so in the future due to intense competition among biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies, universities, and research organizations for qualified personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain the necessary personnel, we may
experience significant impediments to our ability to implement our business strategy.
We expect to expand our management team. Our future performance will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate newly hired
executive officers into our management team and our ability to develop an effective working relationship among senior management. Our failure to
integrate these individuals and create effective working relationships among them and other members of management could result in inefficiencies in the
development and commercialization of our product candidates, adversely affecting future regulatory approvals, sales of our product candidates, and our
results of operations.
Our employees or others may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards, regulatory
requirements, and insider trading.
We are exposed to the risk of employee and non-employee, fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees, consultants, or agents could
include intentional failures to comply with FDA regulations, provide accurate information to regulatory authorities, comply with manufacturing standards
we have established, comply with federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws and regulations, report financial information or data accurately, or
disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing, and business arrangements in the health care industry are subject to extensive laws and
regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing, and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range
of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs, and other business arrangements. Our current and
former employees, consultants or sub-contractors may also become subject to allegations of sexual harassment, racial and gender discrimination, or other
similar misconduct, which, regardless of the ultimate outcome, may result in adverse publicity that could significantly harm our company’s brand,
reputation and operations. Employee misconduct could also involve improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result
in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation.
In addition, during the course of our operations, our directors, executives, employees, consultants, and other third parties may have access to
material, nonpublic information regarding our business, our results of operations, or potential transactions we are considering. We may not be able to
prevent trading in our common stock on the basis of, or while having access to, material, nonpublic information. If any such person was to be investigated
or an action were to be brought against them for insider trading, it could have a negative impact on our reputation and our stock price. Such a claim, with or
without merit, could also result in substantial expenditures of time and money, and divert attention of our management team from other tasks important to
the success of our business.
Our business is subject to political, economic, legal, and social risks in those markets, which could adversely affect our business.
There are significant regulatory, economic and legal barriers in markets in the United States and outside the United States that we must overcome.
We may be subject to the burden of complying with a wide variety of national and local laws, including multiple
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and possibly overlapping and conflicting laws. We also may experience difficulties adapting to new cultures, business customs, and legal systems. Any
sales and operations would be subject to political, economic, and social uncertainties including, among others:
changes and limits in import and export controls;
increases in custom duties and tariffs;
changes in currency exchange rates;
economic and political instability;
the impact on employees, suppliers, customers and the global economy related to public health epidemics or pandemics, such as the COVID19 pandemic, and actions taken in response to such events;
changes in government regulations and laws;
absence in some jurisdictions of effective laws to protect our intellectual property rights; and
currency transfer and other restrictions and regulations that may limit our ability to sell certain products or repatriate profits to the United
States.
Changes in United States social, political, regulatory, and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing,
development, and investment, and any negative sentiments towards the United States as a result of such changes, could adversely affect our business.
Any changes related to these and other factors could adversely affect any business operations that we conduct outside the United States.
If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization, or business combination, we will incur a variety of risks that could adversely affect our business
operations or our stockholders.
From time to time, we have entered into, and we will continue to consider in the future, strategic business initiatives intended to further the
development of our business. These initiatives may include acquiring businesses, technologies, or products, or entering into a business combination with
another company. For example, in January 2019 we acquired Helio Vision, Inc. and obtained the rights to ADX-2191, an intravitreal DHFR inhibitor
(methotrexate) for the prevention of proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Any acquisitions we undertake or have recently completed will likely be accompanied
by business risks which may include, among other things:
the effect of the acquisition on our financial and strategic position and reputation;
the failure of an acquisition to result in expected benefits, which may include benefits relating to new product candidates, human resources,
costs savings, operating efficiencies, goodwill, and other synergies;
the difficulty, cost, and management effort required to integrate the acquired businesses, including costs and delays in implementing common
systems and procedures and costs and delays caused by communication difficulties;
the assumption of certain known or unknown liabilities of the acquired business, including litigation-related liabilities;
the reduction of our cash available for operations and other uses, the increase in amortization expense related to identifiable assets acquired,
potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, or the incurrence of debt;
the possibility that we will pay more than the value we derive from the acquisition;
the impairment of relationships with our partners, consultants, or suppliers, or those of the acquired business; and
the potential loss of key employees of the acquired business.
These factors could harm our business, results of operations, or financial condition.
In addition to the risks commonly encountered in the acquisition of a business or assets as described above, we may also experience risks relating to
the challenges and costs of closing a transaction. The risks described above may be exacerbated as a result of managing multiple acquisitions at once.
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Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions to us or our third-party service providers could compromise sensitive information related to our
business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.
In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third-party service providers collect and store sensitive data, including legally protected health
information, personally identifiable information about patients, intellectual property, and our proprietary business and financial information. We manage
and maintain our applications and data utilizing a combination of on-site systems, managed data center systems and cloud-based data center systems. We
face a number of risks related to our protection of, and our service providers’ protection of, this critical information, including loss of access, inappropriate
disclosure and inappropriate access, as well as risks associated with our ability to identify and audit such events.
The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and business strategy, and we
devote significant resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect sensitive information from unauthorized access or
disclosure, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or viruses or otherwise breached due to employee error,
malfeasance or other activities. These risks may be heightened during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, should any of our employees voluntarily choose
to work remotely. While we are not aware of any such attack or breach, if such event would occur and cause interruptions in our operations, our networks
would be compromised and the information we store on those networks could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any
such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under federal, state, and international laws that
protect the privacy of personal information, such as HIPAA, and regulatory penalties. Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination could also disrupt our
ability to conduct our clinical trials, conduct research and development activities, collect, process and prepare company financial information, provide
information about our product candidates and other patient and physician education and outreach efforts through our website, manage the administrative
aspects of our business and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business.
In addition, the interpretation and application of consumer, health-related and data protection laws in the United States, Europe and elsewhere are
often uncertain, contradictory and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our practices. If
so, this could result in government-imposed fines or orders requiring that we change our practices, which could adversely affect our business. In addition,
we are subject to various state laws, including the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which, among other things, requires covered companies to
provide disclosures to California consumers concerning the collection and sale of personal information, and gives such consumers the right to opt-out of
certain sales of personal information. Amendments to the CCPA have been made since its enactment, and it remains unclear what, if any, further
amendments will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. We cannot yet predict the impact of the CCPA on our business or operations, but
it may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply.
Recent developments in Europe have created compliance uncertainty regarding the processing of personal data from Europe. For example, the
General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which became effective in the E.U. on May 25, 2018, applies to our activities conducted from an
establishment in the EU or related to products and services that we offer to E.U. users. The GDPR creates new compliance obligations applicable to our
business, which could cause us to change our business practices, and increases financial penalties for noncompliance (including possible fines of up to 4%
of global annual turnover for the preceding financial year or €20 million (whichever is higher) for the most serious infringements). As a result, we may
need to modify the way we treat such information.
Our internal computer systems, or those of our development partners, third-party clinical research organizations, or other contractors or consultants,
may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our product development programs.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future Contract Research
Organizations ("CROs") and other contractors, consultants, and collaborators are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural
disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical failures. While to our knowledge we have not experienced any such material system failure,
accident, or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our
development programs and our business operations. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or future clinical trials could result in delays
in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Likewise, we rely on third parties to manufacture our
product candidates and conduct clinical trials, and similar events relating to their computer systems could also have a material adverse effect on our
business. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure
of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development and commercialization of our product candidate could be
delayed.
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We rely on email and other messaging services in connection with our operations. We may be targeted by parties using fraudulent spoofing and
phishing emails to misappropriate passwords, payment information, or other personal information, or to introduce viruses through Trojan horse programs or
otherwise through our networks, computers, smartphones, tablets, or other devices. Despite our efforts to mitigate the effectiveness of such malicious email
campaigns through a variety of control and non-electronic checks, spoofing and phishing may damage our business and increase our costs. These risks may
be heightened during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, should any of our employees voluntarily choose to work remotely. Any of these events or
circumstances could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Risks Related to our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. We may never become
profitable or, if achieved, be able to sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant operating losses since we were founded in 2004 and expect to incur significant losses for the next several years as we
continue our clinical trial and development programs for reproxalap and our other product candidates. Net loss for the nine months ended September 30,
2021 and 2020 was approximately $42.0 million and $26.3 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2021, we had total stockholders’ equity of $219.7
million and an accumulated deficit of $278.9 million. Losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in our clinical trials, research and development
programs and from our general and administrative expenses. In the future, we intend to continue to conduct research and development, clinical testing,
regulatory compliance activities, and, if reproxalap or any of our other product candidates is approved, sales and marketing activities that, together with
anticipated general and administrative expenses, will likely result in our incurring further significant losses for the next several years.
We currently generate no revenue from sales, and we may never be able to commercialize reproxalap or our other product candidates. We do not
currently have the required approvals to market any of our product candidates and we may never receive them. We may not be profitable even if we or any
of our future development partners succeed in obtaining regulatory approval and commercializing any of our product candidates. Because of the numerous
risks and uncertainties associated with developing and commercializing our product candidates, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or
when we will become profitable, if at all.
We will require substantial additional financing, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could force
us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development, other operations or commercialization efforts.
The development and commercialization of biopharmaceutical products is capital intensive. We are advancing reproxalap and our other product
candidates through preclinical and clinical development, including our multiple ongoing and planned clinical trials for our product candidates. We expect
our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities as we continue the research and development of, and, if successful, seek marketing
approval for, our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant
commercialization expenses related to manufacturing, product sales, marketing and distribution. We may also need to raise additional funds sooner if we
choose to pursue additional indications for our product candidates or otherwise expand more rapidly than we presently anticipate. Furthermore, we expect
to continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in
connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed on attractive terms, if at all, we will be forced to delay, reduce or
eliminate certain of our clinical development plans, research and development programs or future commercialization efforts. In addition, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
The development process for our product candidates is highly uncertain, and we cannot estimate with certainty the actual amounts necessary to
successfully complete the development, regulatory approval process and commercialization of our product candidates. Our operating plans may change as a
result of many factors currently unknown to us, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than expected, through public or private equity, debt
financings or other sources. The amount and timing of any expenditure needed to implement our development and commercialization programs will depend
on numerous factors, including:
the type, number, scope, progress, expansion costs, results of, and timing of our clinical trials of reproxalap or any our other product
candidates that we are pursuing or may choose to pursue in the future;
the need for, and the progress, costs, and results of, any additional clinical trials of reproxalap and our other product candidates we may
initiate based on the results of our planned clinical trials or discussions with the FDA, including any additional trials the FDA or other
regulatory agencies may require evaluating the safety or efficacy of reproxalap and our other product candidates;
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the costs of obtaining, maintaining, and enforcing our patents and other intellectual property rights;
the costs and timing of obtaining or maintaining manufacturing for reproxalap and our other product candidates, including commercial
manufacturing if any product candidate is approved;
the costs and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities and enhanced internal controls over financial reporting;
the terms and timing of establishing collaborations, license agreements, and other partnerships on terms favorable to us;
costs associated with any other product candidates that we may develop, in-license, or acquire, including potential milestone or royalty
payments;
the effect of competing technological and market developments;
our ability to establish and maintain partnering arrangements for development; and
the costs associated with being a public company.
Some of these factors are outside of our control. Our existing capital resources are not sufficient to enable us to fund the completion of our clinical
trials and remaining development through commercial introduction. We expect that we will need to raise substantial additional funds in the near future.
We have not sold any products, and we do not expect to sell or derive revenue from any product sales for the foreseeable future. We may seek
additional funding through collaboration agreements and public or private financings, including debt financings. The state of the global economy and
market instability has made the business climate volatile and more costly. Uncertain economic conditions, uncertainty as to the general direction of the
macroeconomic environment and the price of our common stock, are beyond our control and may make any necessary debt or equity financing more
difficult, more costly, and more dilutive. Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, the terms of any financing
may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders or be excessively dilutive. In addition, the issuance of additional shares by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline.
If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we will be unable to complete the planned clinical trials for reproxalap and our other product
candidates and we may be required to significantly curtail, delay or discontinue one or more of our preclinical studies, clinical trials or other research or
development programs, or the commercialization of any product candidate. We may also be unable to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our
business opportunities, may need to restructure our organization, or may be required to relinquish rights to our candidates or other technologies, or
otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us. Any of these occurrences could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to its technologies or product
candidates.
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements and marketing and distribution arrangements. To the extent that we
raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities
may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if
available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting its ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends.
If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements or marketing and distribution arrangements, we may
have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may
not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce
or terminate its product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market products or product candidates that we
would otherwise prefer to develop and market on our own.
We may allocate our cash and cash equivalents in ways that you and other stockholders may not approve.
Our management has broad discretion in the application of our cash and cash equivalents. Because of the number and variability of factors that will
determine our use of our cash and cash equivalents, management’s ultimate use of cash and cash equivalents may
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vary substantially from the currently intended use. Our management might not apply our cash and cash equivalents in ways that ultimately increase the
value of your investment. We expect to use our cash and cash equivalents to: fund our planned clinical trials of reproxalap and our other product
candidates, fund potential NDA submissions, fund an initial commercialization of reproxalap, if approved, develop other molecules that relate to immunemediated disease, pursue regulatory approval for our product candidates, service our debt obligations, and provide working capital and capital for other
general corporate purposes. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could harm our business. We may invest our cash and cash
equivalents in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing securities. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our stockholders. If we do
not invest or apply our cash and cash equivalents in ways that enhance stockholder value, we may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could
cause our stock price to decline.
The terms of our secured debt facility require us to meet certain operating covenants and place restrictions on our operating and financial flexibility. If
we raise additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any new debt could further restrict our ability to operate our business.
In March 2019, we entered into a credit facility with Hercules Capital, which was subsequently amended in April 2021, that is secured by a lien
covering all of our assets, other than our intellectual property. The loan agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of
default. Affirmative covenants include, among others, covenants requiring us to maintain our legal existence and governmental approvals, deliver certain
financial reports, and maintain insurance coverage. Negative covenants include, among others: restrictions on transferring any part of our business or
intellectual property; incurring additional indebtedness; engaging in mergers or acquisitions; paying dividends or making other distributions; making
investments; and creating other liens on our assets, in each case subject to customary exceptions. If we raise any additional debt financing, the terms of
such additional debt could further restrict our operating and financial flexibility. These restrictions may include, among other things, limitations on
borrowing and specific restrictions on the use of our assets, as well as prohibitions on our ability to create liens, pay dividends, redeem capital stock, or
make investments. If we default under the terms of the Hercules Credit Facility or any future debt facility, the lender may accelerate all of our repayment
obligations and take control of our pledged assets, potentially requiring us to renegotiate our agreement on terms less favorable to us or to immediately
cease operations. Further, if we are liquidated, the lender’s right to repayment would be senior to the rights of the holders of our common stock. The lender
could declare a default upon the occurrence of any event that they interpret as a material adverse effect as defined under the loan agreement. Any
declaration by the lender of an event of default could significantly harm our business and prospects and could cause the price of our common stock to
decline. If we raise any additional debt financing, the terms of such additional debt could further restrict our operating and financial flexibility.
Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be limited as a result of
transactions involving our common stock.
In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to
limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”) and certain other tax assets (“tax attributes”) to offset future taxable income.
In general, an ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock ownership of certain stockholders increases by more than 50 percentage points over such
stockholders’ lowest percentage ownership during the testing period (generally three years). Transactions involving our common stock within the testing
period, even those outside our control, such as purchases or sales by investors, could result in an ownership change. A limitation on our ability to utilize
some or all of our NOLs or credits could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows. Prior to December 31, 2017, we believe
three ownership changes have occurred since inception, however, management believes there are sufficient “Built-In Gains” to offset any Section 382
limitation generated by these ownership changes. Any future ownership changes, including those resulting from our recent or future financing activities,
may cause our existing tax attributes to have additional limitations. However, subject to annual limitations, Federal NOLs generated in years 2018 and
beyond will have an indefinite carryforward period and will not expire. Future changes in federal and state tax laws pertaining to NOLs carryforwards may
also cause limitations or restrictions from us claiming such NOLs. If the NOLs carryforwards become unavailable to us or are fully utilized, our future
taxable income will not be shielded from federal and state income taxation absent certain U.S. federal and state tax credits, and the funds otherwise
available for general corporate purposes would be reduced.
Governments may impose price controls, which may adversely affect our future profitability.
We intend to seek approval to market our product candidates in both the United States and in foreign jurisdictions. If we obtain approval in one or
more foreign jurisdictions, we will be subject to rules and regulations in those jurisdictions relating to our product candidates. In some foreign countries,
particularly in the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations
with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product candidate. If reimbursement of our future
products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.
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Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenues and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.
Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons, fires,
extreme weather conditions, public health epidemics (including the COVID-19 pandemic), and other natural or manmade disasters or business
interruptions, for which we are predominantly self-insured. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our operations and
financial condition, and increase our costs and expenses. We rely on third-party manufacturers to produce reproxalap and our other product candidates. Our
ability to obtain clinical supplies of reproxalap or our other product candidates could be disrupted, if the operations of these suppliers are affected by a
man-made or natural disaster or other business interruption.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.
We expect our operating results to be subject to quarterly fluctuations. Our net loss and other operating results will be affected by numerous factors,
including:
variations in the level of expenses related to our clinical trial and development programs;
addition or termination of clinical trials or development programs;
any intellectual property infringement lawsuit in which we may become involved;
regulatory developments affecting reproxalap and our other product candidates;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations and financial position;
our establishment of a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidate for which we may obtain
marketing approval;
our execution of any collaborative, licensing, or similar arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or receive under these
arrangements;
the number of administrative, clinical, regulatory and scientific personnel we engage;
nature and terms of stock-based compensation grants; and
derivative instruments recorded at fair value.
If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate substantially. We believe
that quarterly comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance.
Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
Our business has been and will continue to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
The global spread of COVID-19, including subsequent variants such as the delta variant, has created significant volatility, uncertainty, and economic
disruption. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, operations, and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors
that we may not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic; governmental, business and individuals’ actions that have
been and continue to be taken in response to the pandemic; the impact of the pandemic on economic activity and actions taken in response; the effect on
our ongoing or planned clinical trials; and any closures of our offices or clinical trial facilities. Any of these events could cause or contribute to the risks
and uncertainties enumerated in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and/or stock price.
We are closely monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business, including how it will impact our employees,
clinical trials, development programs, supply chain, and other aspects of our operations. For example, patient enrollment, in our GUARD trial, continues to
be negatively impacted as a result of limited clinical trial staffing at study sites and some patients electing to delay surgery. While COVID-19 did not have
a material adverse effect on our reported results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact that
it may have on our business, future results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The extent to which our operations may be impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic will depend largely on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, including new
information which may emerge concerning the severity of the outbreak and actions by government authorities to contain the outbreak or treat its impact.
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We have experienced operational interruptions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, with certain of our employees electing to work remotely to
avoid spread of the disease. Our offices are currently open as allowed under state and local orders. While we have implemented what we believe to be a
reasonable protocol to ensure the safety and wellbeing of employees returning to the office, these measures may not be sufficient to mitigate the risks posed
by the virus or otherwise be satisfactory to government authorities. A prolonged pandemic, or the threat thereof, could result in lower productivity,
voluntary closure of our office, and other disruptions to our business. We may also incur additional costs to remedy damages caused by business
disruptions, including clinical trial delays or interruptions. Any of these could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations.
Due to the evolving and highly uncertain nature of this event, we cannot predict at this time the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will
adversely impact our business, results and financial condition, which will depend on many factors that are not known at this time. These include, among
others, the extent of harm to public health, the continued disruption to clinical trials, and the impact of the global business and economic environment on
liquidity and the availability of capital. We are staying in close communication with our employees, CROs, and suppliers, and acting to mitigate the impact
of this dynamic and evolving situation, but there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so.
To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic or any worsening of the global business and economic environment as a result thereof adversely affects our
business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening or exacerbating many of the other risks described in this section of this quarterly
report on Form 10-Q.
COVID-19 has and is expected to continue to affect our ability to recruit or retain patients for our clinical trials, disrupt our supply chains, or have
other adverse effects on our business and operations.
In addition to those who have been directly affected by COVID-19, millions more have been affected by government efforts around the world to
slow the spread of the pandemic through quarantines, travel restrictions, heightened border scrutiny and other measures. The outbreak and government
measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have also had a significant impact, both direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce, as worker
shortages have occurred; supply chains have been disrupted; facilities and production have been suspended; the capital markets and the economy in general
has been volatile; and demand for certain goods and services, such as medical services and supplies, has spiked, while demand for other goods and services,
such as travel, has fallen. The future progression of the outbreak, including the emergence of COVID-19 variants, and its effects on our business and
operations are uncertain. We have and expect to continue to face difficulties recruiting or retaining patients in our ongoing and planned clinical trials due to
actions taken by governments and individuals in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Patient enrollment in our GUARD trial continues to be negatively
impacted as a result of limited clinical trial staffing at study sites and some patients electing to delay surgery. We and our third-party contract
manufacturers, contract research organizations and clinical sites may also face disruptions in procuring items that are essential for our research and
development activities, including, for example, medical and laboratory supplies used in our clinical trials or preclinical studies, in each case, that are
sourced from abroad or for which there are shortages because of ongoing efforts to address the pandemic.
Risks Related to the Development and Commercialization of our Product Candidates
Reproxalap and our other product candidates are subject to extensive regulation, compliance with which is costly and time consuming, and such
regulation may cause unanticipated delays, or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our product candidates.
The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, import, export, marketing, and distribution of
our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the United States and by comparable authorities in foreign markets. In the United
States, we are not permitted to market our product candidates until we receive regulatory approval from the FDA. The process of obtaining regulatory
approval is expensive and time-consuming, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity, and novelty of the products involved, as well as the
target indication, and patient population. Approval policies or regulations may change, and the FDA has substantial discretion in the drug approval process,
including the ability to delay, limit, or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons. Despite the time and expense invested in clinical
development of product candidates, regulatory approval, and subsequent commercial success is uncertain and not guaranteed.
Reproxalap and our other product candidates, and the activities associated with development and potential commercialization, including testing,
manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution, are subject to extensive regulation
by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in other jurisdictions.
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Our ongoing research and development activities and planned clinical development for our product candidates may be delayed, modified, or ceased
for a variety of reasons, including:
determining that a product candidate is ineffective or potentially causes harmful side effects during preclinical studies or clinical trials;
difficulty establishing predictive preclinical models for demonstration of safety and efficacy of a product candidate in one or more potential
therapeutic areas for clinical development;
patients in our clinical trials may demonstrate greater response rates or improvements from vehicle or standard of care than was expected
when designing and powering our clinical trials, such as was observed in the SOLACE Trial;
delays resulting from or additional protocols being required as result of the COVID-19 pandemic;
lack of availability of, or difficulty recruiting, a sufficient number of patients to adequately power our clinical trials;
difficulties in manufacturing a product candidate, including the inability to manufacture a product candidate in a sufficient quantity, suitable
form, or in a cost-effective manner, or under processes acceptable to the FDA for marketing approval;
the proprietary rights of third parties, which may preclude us from developing or commercializing a product candidate;
determining that a product candidate may be uneconomical for us to develop or commercialize, or may fail to achieve market acceptance or
adequate pricing or reimbursement;
our expectations regarding our expenses and revenue, the sufficiency or use of our cash resources and needs for additional financing;
a safety concern or signal may arise that triggers a clinical hold;
our inability to secure strategic partners which may be necessary for advancement of a product candidate into clinical development or
commercialization; or
our prioritization of other indications or product candidates for advancement.
The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities can delay, limit, or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons, including but not
limited to:
such authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our or any of our future development partners’ clinical trials, including the
endpoints of our clinical trials; such authorities may require clinical data in addition to clinical trial programs we expect, or may require
changes to the designs and endpoints of subsequent clinical trials;
a competitor product may have patent protection or some type of market exclusivity that delays approval of our product;
we or any of our future development partners may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or other regulatory authorities that
a product candidate is safe and effective for any indication;
such authorities may not accept clinical data from trials if conducted at clinical facilities or in countries where the standard of care is
potentially different from the United States;
the results of clinical trials may not demonstrate the safety or efficacy required by such authorities for approval;
we or any of our future development partners may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its
safety risks;
such authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials or the design of such trials or require
additional trials and data;
changes in the leadership or operation of such authorities, which may result in, among other things, the implementation of new standards, or
changes to the interpretation or enforcement of existing regulatory standards and requirements;
such authorities may find deficiencies in the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we or any of our
future development partners contract for clinical and commercial supplies; or
the approval policies, standards or regulations of such authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our or any of our future
development partners’ clinical data insufficient for approval.
With respect to foreign markets, approval procedures vary among countries and, in addition to the aforementioned risks, can involve additional
product testing, administrative review periods and agreements with pricing authorities. In addition, events raising
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questions about the safety of certain marketed pharmaceuticals may result in increased cautiousness by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory
authorities in reviewing new drugs based on safety, efficacy or other regulatory considerations and may result in significant delays in obtaining regulatory
approvals. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approvals would prevent us or any of our future development partners from
commercializing our product candidates. Moreover, we cannot predict healthcare reform initiatives, including potential reductions in federal funding or
insurance coverage, that may be adopted in the future and whether or not any such reforms would have an adverse effect on our business and our ability to
obtain regulatory approval for our current or future product candidates. There are evolving legal requirements and other statutory and regulatory regimes
that will continue to affect our business.
Because the Company has no experience in commercializing pharmaceutical products, there is a limited amount of information about us upon which
to evaluate our product candidates and business prospects.
We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome many of the pre-commercial and commercial risks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the biopharmaceutical area. For example, to execute our business plan we will
need to successfully:
execute our product candidate development activities, including successfully designing and completing our clinical trial programs and product
design and formulation of future product candidates, in a cost- effective manner;
file for and obtain required regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
manage our spending as costs and expenses increase due to the performance and completion of clinical trials, attempting to obtain regulatory
approvals, manufacturing and commercialization;
secure substantial additional funding;
develop and maintain successful strategic relationships;
build and maintain a strong intellectual property portfolio;
build and maintain appropriate clinical, regulatory, quality, manufacturing, compliance, sales, distribution, and marketing capabilities on our
own or through third parties;
implement and maintain operational, financial and management systems;
price our product candidates, if approved, at expected levels and obtain and maintain sufficient insurance and reimbursement from insurers
and other programs; and
gain broad market acceptance for our product candidates.
If we are unsuccessful in accomplishing these objectives, we may not be able to develop product candidates, raise capital, expand our business, or
continue our operations. Further, even if we are successful in clinical trials of product candidates, we may choose to place further development or
commercialization on hold given perceived marketing challenges or the relative differences in commercial attractiveness within our portfolio.
The results of preclinical studies and earlier clinical trials are not always predictive of future results. Any product candidate we or any of our future
development partners advance into clinical trials, including reproxalap, may not have favorable results in later clinical trials, if any, or receive
regulatory approval.
Drug development has inherent risk. We or any of our future development partners will be required to demonstrate through adequate and wellcontrolled clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective, with a favorable benefit-risk profile, for use in their target indications before we
can seek regulatory approvals for their commercial sale. Drug development is a long, expensive, and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at
any stage of development, including after commencement of any of our clinical trials. In addition, as product candidates proceed through development, the
trial designs may often be different and may need to evolve and change from phase to phase or within the same phase or same trial, in the case of an
adaptive trial design; the vehicles or controls may be modified from trial to trial; and the product formulations or manufacturing process may differ due to
the need to test product candidate samples that can be manufactured on a commercial scale. Success in run-in cohorts, earlier clinical trials or clinical trials
focused on a different indication does not mean that later clinical trials will be successful because product candidates in later-stage clinical trials may fail to
demonstrate sufficient safety or efficacy despite having progressed through other phases of clinical testing. In addition, discussions with regulatory bodies,
such as the FDA, may lead to changes in trial designs or programs. Companies frequently suffer significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after
run-in cohorts or earlier clinical trials have shown promising results. For instance, in June 2019, we discontinued our noninfectious anterior uveitis program
following
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the announcement of results from the SOLACE Trial. Moreover, only a small percentage of drugs under development result in the submission of an NDA
to the FDA and even fewer are approved for commercialization.
Because we are developing novel product candidates for the treatment of diseases in a manner which there is little clinical drug development
experience and, in some cases, are designing adaptive trials or using new endpoints or methodologies, the regulatory pathways for approval are not
well defined, and, as a result, there is greater risk that our clinical trials will not result in our desired outcomes or require additional trials.
Our clinical focus is on the development of new products for immune-mediated diseases. Our former Phase 3 vehicle-controlled clinical programs in
noninfectious anterior uveitis and SLS represented the first such clinical trials performed. In June 2019, we announced that statistical significance was not
achieved for the primary or secondary endpoints in our SOLACE Trial in noninfectious anterior uveitis, due to high rates of disease resolution in vehicletreated patients. We are performing an adaptive trial in proliferative vitreoretinopathy, the GUARD trial, and may do so with other indications in the future.
In an adaptive trial, the initial parts of the trial are not designed to be pivotal or definitive. Rather, the initial parts of adaptive trials are expected to provide
data to guide subsequent parts of the trial, which could require design changes, including but not limited to, different endpoints. In addition, following the
initial parts of adaptive trials, we may, among other things, determine to continue to the subsequent parts of the trial, conclude the trial based on its success
or failure in such initial parts, or to discuss the trial results and regulatory pathway with regulatory authorities prior to determining next steps with respect
to the trial and development program. For example, in August 2019, we announced that statistically significant improvement from baseline was observed in
Part 1 of the Phase 3 RESET trial in SLS. However, due to the novel nature of reproxalap, the limited population of SLS patients, and the uncertain
regulatory pathway in SLS, in connection with the strategic prioritization of late-stage ophthalmology programs announced in March 2020, further
development in SLS was placed on hold. As such, the likelihood of success in our late-stage clinical programs cannot necessarily be predicted.
We could also face challenges in designing clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates due to the lack of historical
clinical trial experience for novel classes of therapeutics. Thus, it is difficult to determine whether regulatory agencies will be receptive to the approval of
our product candidates, and to predict the time and costs associated with obtaining regulatory approvals. The clinical trial requirements of the FDA and
other regulatory agencies and the criteria regulators use to determine the safety and efficacy of a product candidate vary substantially according to the type,
complexity, novelty, and intended use and market of the potential products. The regulatory approval process for novel product candidates such as ours can
be more expensive and require more time and trial data than for other, better known or more extensively studied classes of product candidates. In addition,
it is possible that, as regulatory bodies gain more familiarity with our type of products by reviewing competitor candidates, those agencies could impose
new conditions on our products that we did not expect. Any inability to design clinical trials with protocols and endpoints acceptable to applicable
regulatory authorities, and to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates, would have an adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations.
To preserve trial integrity, clinical data from the initial parts of adaptive clinical trials may not be disclosed.
Adaptive clinical trials are often performed such that the initial parts of the trial are used to determine sample size and endpoints for subsequent,
possibly pivotal parts of the trial. Results from the initial parts of adaptive trials are therefore not designed to be pivotal or definitive, and, in some cases,
detailed trial data may not be disclosed so as not to positively or negatively bias investigators or patients involved in subsequent parts of the trial.
We are performing an adaptive trial in proliferative vitreoretinopathy. For the reasons stated above, detailed results from the initial part of the
GUARD trial may not be disclosed until the completion of subsequent parts of the trials, or until the entire adaptive trial has completed. Further, the initial
parts of adaptive trials may be performed in part to assess biomarkers or surrogate markers that may require substantial time to generate, analyze, and
interpret. Thus, disclosure of clinical results from the initial parts of adaptive trials may also be delayed due to the time required for biomarker or surrogate
marker assessment.
Because some of our product candidates are, to our knowledge, new chemical entities, it is difficult to predict the time and cost of development and our
ability to successfully complete clinical development of these product candidates and obtain the necessary regulatory approvals for commercialization.
Some of our product candidates are, to our knowledge, new chemical entities, and unexpected problems related to new technologies may arise that
can cause us to delay, suspend, or terminate our development efforts. As a result, short and long-term safety, as well as prospects for efficacy, are not fully
understood and are difficult to predict. Regulatory approvals of new product candidates can be more expensive and take longer than approvals for wellcharacterized or more extensively studied pharmaceutical product candidates. Following discussions with the FDA and experts in the field, we may
determine that it is not cost effective for us to develop one or more of our product in certain indications and we may decide to cease development in that
area or seek a strategic partner.
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Because RASP is a new objective sign for the treatment of dry eye disease, there is no precedent in measuring and validating the results of studies of
RASP in tears, which could impact the timing and cost of development of our trials and delay or prevent the filing of an NDA in dry eye disease.
Written meeting minutes with the FDA confirmed the use of RASP as an objective sign for the treatment of dry eye disease. However, to our
knowledge, a validated assay to measure RASP in tears has not been developed and the FDA has not established guidelines for the design of trials in which
RASP is measured. There is risk that the RASP assays we have developed will not accurately measure RASP or be accepted by the FDA or other
regulatory bodies as validated assays. In addition, the FDA could change its view on clinical trial design and the method for assaying RASP and require a
change in clinical trial design, additional data or even further clinical trials before granting approval of our product candidates. As a result, further
development of reproxalap in dry eye disease may be negatively impacted or delayed, which would have an adverse impact on our business, prospects,
financial condition, and results of operations.
Any termination or suspension of, or delays in the commencement or completion of, our clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay or
limit our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects.
Delays in the commencement or completion of our planned clinical trials for reproxalap or other product candidates could significantly affect our
product development costs and timeline. We do not know whether future trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The
commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to:
the COVID-19 pandemic or responses thereto;
the FDA, or an institutional review board, or IRB, failing to grant permission to proceed or placing a clinical trial on hold;
subjects failing to enroll or remain in our clinical trials at the rate we expect;
subjects choosing an alternative treatment for the indication for which we are developing reproxalap or other product candidates, or
participating in competing clinical trials;
lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial;
subjects experiencing severe, serious, or unexpected drug-related adverse effects, whether drug-related or otherwise;
a facility manufacturing reproxalap, any of our other product candidates or any of their components being ordered by the FDA or other
government or regulatory authorities, to temporarily or permanently shut down due to violations of current Good Manufacturing Practices, or
cGMP, or other applicable requirements, or infections or cross-contaminations of product candidates in the manufacturing process;
any changes to our manufacturing process that may be necessary or desired;
inability to timely manufacture sufficient quantities of the applicable product candidate for a clinical trial or expiration of materials intended
for use in a clinical trial;
third-party clinical investigators losing the licenses or permits necessary to perform our clinical trials, not performing our clinical trials on our
anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, current Good Clinical Practice or regulatory requirements, or other third
parties not performing data collection or analysis in a timely or accurate manner;
inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDA or the finding of regulatory violations by the FDA or IRB, that require us or others to undertake
corrective action, result in suspension or termination of one or more sites or the imposition of a clinical hold in part or on the entire trial, or
that prohibit us from using some or all of the data in support of our marketing applications;
import alert or detentions that prevent shipment of clinical trial material reaching clinical sites;
third-party contractors becoming debarred or suspended or otherwise penalized by the FDA or other government or regulatory authorities for
violations of regulatory requirements, in which case we may need to find a substitute contractor, and we may not be able to use some or all of
the data produced by such contractors in support of our marketing applications; or
one or more IRBs refusing to approve, suspending or terminating the trial at an investigational site, precluding enrollment of additional
subjects, or withdrawing its approval of the trial.
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Product development costs will increase if we have delays in testing or approval of reproxalap or our other product candidates or if we need to
perform more, larger, or longer clinical trials than planned. Additionally, changes in regulatory requirements and policies may occur and we or our partners
may need to amend clinical trial protocols to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBs for
reexamination, which may impact the costs, timing, or successful completion of a clinical trial. If we experience delays in completion of, or if we, the FDA,
or other regulatory authorities, the IRB, other reviewing entities, or any of our clinical trial sites suspend or terminate any of our clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for a product candidate may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues, if any, will be delayed. In addition, many of the
factors that cause, or lead to, termination or suspension of, or a delay in the commencement or completion of, clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the
denial of regulatory approval of a product candidate. Further, if one or more clinical trials are delayed, our competitors may be able to bring products to
market before we do, and the commercial viability of reproxalap or other product candidates could be significantly reduced.
We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials or identify patients during commercialization (if our products are approved by regulatory
agencies) for product candidates addressing orphan or rare diseases.
As part of our business strategy, we have and continue to evaluate the development and commercialization of product candidates for the treatment of
orphan and other rare diseases, including, PVR. We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials if we are unable to locate a sufficient number of
eligible patients willing and able to participate in the clinical trials required by the FDA or other non-United States regulatory agencies. In addition, if
others develop products for the treatment of similar diseases, we would potentially compete with them for the enrollment in rare patient populations, which
may adversely impact the rate of patient enrollment in and the timely completion of our current and planned clinical trials. Any negative results or
perceived negative results in clinical trials of our product candidates may make it difficult or impossible to recruit or retain patients in other clinical trials of
the same product candidate. Insufficient patient enrollment may be a function of other factors, including the size and nature of the patient population, the
nature of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the timing and magnitude of disease symptom presentation, the availability of effective
treatments for the relevant disease, and the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial. Our inability to identify and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients
for any of our current or future clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to abandon one or more clinical trials or development
program. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has and is expected to continue to have an impact on our ability to enroll and retain patients in our clinical
trials. For instance, patient enrollment in our GUARD trial continues to be negatively impacted as a result of limited clinical trial staffing at study sites and
some patients electing to delay surgery. Delays in patient enrollment in the future as a result of these and other factors may result in increased costs or may
affect the timing or outcome of our clinical trials, which could prevent us from completing these trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the
development of our product candidates. For instance, in rare diseases such as PVR, lack of availability of, or difficulty recruiting a sufficient number of,
patients may make it difficult or cost-prohibitive to sufficiently power our clinical trials, which may not enable us to continue development and seek
regulatory approval for the applicable product candidate. Further, if our products are approved by regulatory agencies, we may not be able to identify
sufficient number of patients to generate significant revenues.
Any product candidate we or any of our future development partners advance into clinical trials may cause unacceptable adverse events or have other
properties that may delay or prevent its regulatory approval or commercialization or limit its commercial potential.
Unacceptable adverse events caused by any of our product candidates that we or others advance into clinical trials could cause us or regulatory
authorities to interrupt, delay, or halt clinical trials, impose a clinical hold, and could result in the denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other
regulatory authorities for any or all targeted indications and markets. This in turn could prevent us from completing development or commercializing the
affected product candidate and generating revenue from its sale.
We have not yet completed testing of any of our product candidates in humans for the treatment of the indications for which we intend to seek
approval, and we currently do not know the full extent of adverse events that will be observed in subjects that receive any of our product candidates. If any
of our product candidates cause unacceptable adverse events in clinical trials, which may be larger or longer than those previously conducted, we may not
be able to obtain regulatory approval or commercialize such product candidate.
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Final marketing approval for reproxalap or our other product candidates by the FDA or other regulatory authorities may be delayed, limited, or denied,
any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.
After the completion of our clinical trials, assuming the results of the trials are successful, and the submission of an NDA, we cannot predict
whether or when we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize reproxalap or our other product candidates and we cannot, therefore, predict the
timing of any future revenue. We cannot commercialize reproxalap or our other product candidates until the appropriate regulatory authorities have
reviewed and approved the applicable applications. We cannot assure you that the regulatory agencies will complete their review processes in a timely
manner or that we will obtain regulatory approval for reproxalap or our other product candidates. In addition, we may experience delays or rejections based
upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action or changes in FDA policy during the period of product development,
clinical trials, and FDA regulatory review. If marketing approval for reproxalap or our other product candidates is delayed, limited or denied, our ability to
market the product candidate, and our ability to generate product sales, would be adversely affected. Such delay could occur because a competitor product
is approved before our product and secures patent protection, market exclusivity or both, and precludes our product approval for a number of years.
Even if we obtain marketing approval for reproxalap or any other product candidate, it could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market
and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our product
candidates, when and if any are approved.
Even if United States regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing or
impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly and time consuming post-approval studies, post-market surveillance, or other potential additional
clinical trials. Following approval, if any, of reproxalap or any other product candidate, such candidate will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements
governing the labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping, and reporting of safety and other postmarket information. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and
other regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMP requirements, including those relating to quality control, quality assurance, and corresponding
maintenance of records and documents. If we or a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of
unanticipated seriousness, severity, or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose
restrictions on that product, the manufacturing facility or us, including requesting recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of
manufacturing.
If we or the manufacturing facilities for reproxalap or any other product candidate that may receive regulatory approval, if any, fail to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:
issue warning letters or untitled letters;
seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;
suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;
suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
refuse to approve pending applications or supplements or applications filed by us;
suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or
seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of product, or request us to initiate a product recall.
The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenue.
The FDA has the authority to require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”) plan as part of an NDA or after approval, which may
impose further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of an approved drug, such as limiting prescribing to certain physicians or medical
centers that have undergone specialized training, limiting treatment to patients who meet certain safe-use criteria, and requiring treated patients to enroll in
a registry.
In addition, if reproxalap or any of our other product candidates is approved, our product labeling, advertising, and promotion would be subject to
regulatory requirements and continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about prescription
products. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. If we
receive marketing approval for a product candidate, physicians may nevertheless prescribe it to patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved
label. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce
the laws and regulations prohibiting the
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promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant sanctions. The federal
government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging
in off-label promotion. The government has also entered into consent decrees and Corporate Integrity Agreements under which specified promotional
conduct is changed or curtailed.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for reproxalap or any other product candidate, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize, and the
revenue that we generate from its sales, if any, could be limited.
Even if our product candidates receive regulatory approval, they may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors, and
the medical community. Coverage and reimbursement of our product candidates by third-party payors, including government payors, is also generally
necessary for commercial success. In addition, we may not be able to price our products at the expected level or at levels that make successful
commercialization viable. The pricing of our products will be subject to numerous factors, many of which are outside of our control, including the pricing
of similar products. The degree of market acceptance of our product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including but not limited to:
demonstration of clinical efficacy and safety compared to other more-established products;
the limitation of our targeted patient populations and other limitations or warnings contained in any FDA-approved labeling;
acceptance of a new formulations by health care providers and their patients;
the prevalence, seriousness, and severity of any adverse effects;
new procedures or methods of treatment that may be more effective in treating conditions for which our products are intended to treat;
the safety of product candidates seen in a broader patient group, including their use outside the approved indications;
pricing and cost-effectiveness, including the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;
the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;
our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient and timely third-party coverage or reimbursement from government health care programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payors;
relative convenience and ease of administration;
the prevalence and severity of adverse events;
the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts;
unfavorable publicity; and
the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.
In addition, because the active ingredient of ADX-2191 (methotrexate) is a generic drug, a generic manufacturer may be able to develop and market
a competitive intravitreal formulation of methotrexate unless commercial exclusivity is mandated via certain orphan drug designations or by other means.
Generic drug competition would have a material and adverse effect on the commercial potential of ADX-2191. Further, our ability to successfully
commercialize ADX-2191, if approved, depends on a number of additional factors, including but not limited to, the level of enforcement by the FDA to
ensure that compounded copies of commercially available FDA-approved products manufactured by compounding pharmacies, including compounded
copies of ADX-2191, that may be in violation of the federal Drug Quality and Security Act (“DQSA”) and other relevant provisions of the United States
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, are not produced and dispensed to patients.
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Moreover, we cannot predict what healthcare reform initiatives may be adopted in the future. Further federal and state legislative and regulatory
developments are likely, and we expect ongoing initiatives in the United States to increase pressure on drug pricing. Such reforms could have an adverse
effect on the pricing of and anticipated revenues from our current or future product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval and may affect
our overall financial condition and ability to develop drug candidates.
If any product candidate is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, hospitals, healthcare payors, or patients,
we may not generate sufficient revenue from that product candidate and may not become or remain profitable. Our efforts to educate the medical
community and third-party payors on the benefits of reproxalap or any of our other product candidates may require significant resources and may never be
successful. In addition, our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidate will depend on our ability to manufacture our products, differentiate
our products from competing products and defend the intellectual property of our products.
Additionally, if any of our competitors’ products are approved and are unable to gain market acceptance for any reason, there could be a market
perception that products like reproxalap are not able to adequately meet an unmet medical need. If we are unable to demonstrate to physicians, hospitals,
third-party payors, and patients that our products are better alternatives, we may not be able to gain market acceptance for our products at the levels we
anticipate and our business may be materially harmed as a result.
If the market opportunities for reproxalap and our other product candidates are smaller than we believe they are and, if we are not able to successfully
identify patients and achieve significant market share, our revenues may be adversely affected and our business may suffer.
We focus our research and product development on treatments for immune-mediated diseases. Our projections of both the number of people who
have these diseases, as well as the subset of people with these diseases who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product candidates, are
based on estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific literature, surveys of clinics, or market research, and
may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these diseases. The number of patients may turn out to
be lower or more difficult to identify than expected. In addition, our product candidates may not achieve commercial success due to market conditions or
regulatory challenges.
Any of these factors may negatively affect our ability to generate revenues from sales of our product and our ability to achieve and maintain
profitability, and as a consequence, our business may suffer.
Reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for our product candidates, which could make it difficult for us to sell our
product candidates profitably.
Market acceptance and sales of our product candidates will depend significantly on the availability of adequate insurance coverage and
reimbursement from third-party payors for any of our product candidates and may be affected by existing and future health care reform measures.
Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs they will pay for
and establish reimbursement levels. The reimbursement levels may be significantly less than the currently anticipated pricing of our product candidates. As
a result of negative trends in the general economy in the United States or other jurisdictions in which we may do business, these organizations may be
unable to satisfy their reimbursement obligations or may delay payment. Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors
including the third-party payor’s determination that use of a product candidate is:
a covered benefit under its health plan;
safe, effective, and medically necessary;
appropriate for the specific patient;
cost-effective; and
neither experimental nor investigational.
Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product candidate from a government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and
costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical, and cost effectiveness data for the use of the applicable product candidate to
the payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. We cannot be sure that coverage
or adequate reimbursement will be available for any of our product candidates. Further, we cannot be sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the
demand for, or the price of, our product candidates. If reimbursement is not available or is available only in limited levels, we may not be able to
commercialize certain of our product candidates profitably, or at all, even if approved. In recent years, through legislative and regulatory actions, the
federal
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government has made substantial changes to the United States healthcare system, including changes to the methods for, and amounts of, Medicare
reimbursement. Many members of the United States Congress have attempted to repeal and replace the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
(“PPACA”), but they have been unsuccessful in doing so as of the date of the filing of this report. We cannot predict the ultimate form or timing of any
repeal or replacement of PPACA or the effect such repeal or replacement would have on our business. Regardless of the impact of repeal or replacement of
PPACA on us, the government has shown significant interest in pursuing healthcare reform and reducing healthcare costs. These reforms could
significantly reduce payments from Medicare and Medicaid over the next ten years. Reforms or other changes to these payment systems, including
modifications to the conditions on qualification for payment, bundling of payments, or the imposition of enrollment limitations on new providers, may
change the availability, methods, and rates of reimbursements from Medicare, private insurers, and other third-party payers for our current and future
product candidates, if any, for which we are able to obtain regulatory approval. Some of these changes and proposed changes could result in reduced
reimbursement rates for such product candidates, if approved, which would adversely affect our business strategy, operations, and financial results.
As a result of legislative proposals and the trend toward managed health care in the United States, third-party payors are increasingly attempting to
contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement of new drugs. They may also refuse to provide coverage of approved
product candidates for medical indications other than those for which the FDA has granted market approvals. As a result, significant uncertainty exists as to
whether and how much third-party payors will reimburse patients for use of newly approved drugs, which in turn could lower drug pricing. We expect to
experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed health care, the increasing influence of
health maintenance organizations, and additional legislative proposals as well as country, regional, or local healthcare budget limitations.
If we fail to develop and commercialize other product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business.
As part of our growth strategy, we plan to evaluate the development and commercialization of other therapies related to immune-mediated diseases.
We will evaluate internal opportunities from our compound libraries, and also may choose to continue to in-license or acquire other product candidates, as
well as commercial products, to treat patients suffering from immune-mediated disorders with high unmet medical needs and limited treatment options.
These other product candidates will require additional, time-consuming development efforts prior to commercial sale, including preclinical studies, clinical
trials, and approval by the FDA and/or applicable foreign regulatory authorities. In-licensed product candidates may have been unsuccessfully developed
by others in indications similar to those that we may pursue. All product candidates are prone to the risks of failure that are inherent in pharmaceutical
product development, including the possibility that the product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and/or effective for approval by
regulatory authorities. In addition, we cannot assure you that any such products that are approved will be manufactured or produced economically,
adequately priced, successfully commercialized, or widely accepted in the marketplace or be more effective than other commercially available alternatives.
Orphan drug designation, breakthrough therapy designation, or fast-track designation from the FDA may be difficult or impossible to obtain, and if we
are unable to obtain such designations for reproxalap or our other product candidates, regulatory and commercial prospects may be negatively
impacted.
The FDA designates orphan drug designation status to drugs that are intended to treat rare diseases with fewer than 200,000 patients in the United
States or that affect more than 200,000 persons but are not expected to recover the costs of developing and marketing a treatment drug. Drugs that receive
an orphan drug designation do not require prescription drug user fees at the time of marketing application, may qualify the drug development sponsor for
certain tax credits, and can be marketed without generic competition for seven years. In April 2018, ADX-2191 received orphan drug designation from the
FDA for the prevention of proliferative vitreoretinopathy and, in June 2020, ADX-2191 was designated an orphan medicinal product by the European
Commission for the treatment of retinal detachment. In July 2021, ADX-2191 received orphan drug designation from the FDA for both the treatment of
PVRL and retinitis pigmentosa ("RP"). In addition, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain from the FDA orphan drug designation or a designation that
facilitates and expedites development and review of certain new drugs, including breakthrough therapy designation, fast track designation, or any other
expedited status that we may apply for in the future, for reproxalap or our other product candidates. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to receive
breakthrough therapy or fast-track designation from the FDA for reproxalap or our other product candidates. If we are unable to secure breakthrough
therapy designation or fast-track designation for reproxalap or our other product candidates, our regulatory and commercial prospects may be negatively
impacted. In addition, orphan drug designation does not guarantee FDA approval and, if a competitor obtains approval before we do, our drug approval
could be blocked by any patent protection or exclusivity the competitor product obtains.
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We are subject to a multitude of manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our products.
The process of manufacturing our products is complex, highly regulated, and subject to several risks, including:
The manufacturing of compounds is extremely susceptible to product loss due to contamination, equipment failure, improper installation or
operation of equipment, or vendor or operator error. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result in reduced
production yields, product defects, and other supply disruptions. If microbial, viral, or other contaminations are discovered in our products or
in the manufacturing facilities in which our products are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of
time to investigate and remedy the contamination.
The manufacturing facilities in which our products are made could be adversely affected by equipment failures, labor shortages, natural
disasters, power failures, and numerous other factors.
We and our contract manufacturers must comply with the FDA’s cGMP regulations and guidelines. We and our contract manufacturers may
encounter difficulties in achieving quality control and quality assurance, and may experience shortages in qualified personnel. We and our
contract manufacturers are subject to inspections by the FDA and comparable agencies in other jurisdictions to confirm compliance with
applicable regulatory requirements. Any failure to follow cGMP or other regulatory requirements or any delay, interruption, or other issues
that arise in the manufacture, fill-finish, packaging, or storage of our products as a result of a failure of our facilities or the facilities or
operations of third parties to comply with regulatory requirements or pass any regulatory authority inspection could significantly impair our
ability to develop and commercialize our products, including leading to significant delays in the availability of products for our clinical
studies, the termination or hold on a clinical study, or the delay or prevention of a filing or approval of marketing applications for our product
candidates. Significant noncompliance could also result in the imposition of sanctions, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of
regulatory authorities to grant marketing approvals for our product candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license
revocation, seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions, and criminal prosecutions, any of which could damage our reputation. If we
are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our products and/or may be subject to product recalls,
seizures, injunctions, or criminal prosecution.
Any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations for our products, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or responses taken
thereto, may result in shipment delays; inventory shortages; lot failures; product withdrawals, recalls, approvals; or other interruptions in the supply of our
products. We may also have to account for inventory write-offs and incur other charges and expenses for products that fail to meet specifications, undertake
costly remediation efforts, or seek more costly manufacturing alternatives.
If our competitors develop treatments for the target indications of our product candidates that are approved more quickly than ours, marketed more
successfully, or demonstrated to be safer or more effective than our product candidates, our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated.
We operate in highly competitive segments of the biotechnology market. We face competition from many different sources, including commercial
pharmaceutical and biotechnology enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies, and private and public research institutions. Our product
candidates, if successfully developed and approved, will compete with established therapies (including generic and over-the-counter drugs) as well as with
new treatments that may be introduced by our competitors. With the exception of PVR, there are a variety of approved drugs and drug candidates in
development for the indications that we intend to test. While there are no drugs currently approved in the United States that effect acute (within minutes)
relief of the signs and symptoms of dry eye disease, current treatments that are used in the United States for dry eye disease include over the counter
artificial tears, Restasis®, Xiidra®, CequaTM, Eysuvis®, and a generic corticosteroid. Generic versions of Restasis® are also expected to become available
in the U.S. in the near future. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, product candidate development, manufacturing, and marketing
resources than we do. Large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have extensive experience in clinical testing and obtaining regulatory approval
for drugs. In addition, universities and private and public research institutes could be in direct competition with us. We also may compete with these
organizations to recruit management, scientists, and clinical development personnel. We will also face competition from these third parties in establishing
clinical trial sites, registering subjects for clinical trials, and in identifying and in-licensing new product candidates. Smaller or early-stage companies may
also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies.

47

New developments, including the development of other pharmaceutical technologies and methods of treating disease, occur in the pharmaceutical
and life sciences industries at a rapid pace. Developments by competitors may render our product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive. Other parties may
discover and patent treatment approaches and compositions that are similar to or different from ours. Competition in drug development is intense. We
anticipate that we will face intense and increasing competition as new treatments enter the market and advanced technologies become available.
Our future success depends on our ability to demonstrate and maintain a competitive advantage with respect to the design, development, and
commercialization of reproxalap or our other product candidates. Inflammatory diseases may be treated with general immune suppressing therapies,
including corticosteroids, some of which are generic. Our potential competitors in inflammatory diseases may be developing novel immune modulating
therapies that may be safer or more effective than our product candidates.
We may not be successful in executing our sales and marketing strategy for the commercialization of our product candidates. We have no sales,
marketing, or distribution capabilities and expect to invest significant financial and management resources to develop these capabilities. If we are
unable to establish sales, distribution, and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market, sell, and distribute our product
candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenues.
We have no internal sales, marketing, or distribution capabilities. If reproxalap or any of our other product candidates ultimately receives regulatory
approval, we may not be able to effectively market and distribute the product candidate. We will have to invest significant amounts of financial and
management resources to develop internal sales, distribution, and marketing capabilities, some of which will be committed prior to any confirmation that
reproxalap or any of our other product candidates will be approved. We may not be able to hire consultants or external service providers to assist us in
sales, marketing, and distribution functions on acceptable financial terms or at all. We will be competing with many companies that currently have
extensive and well-funded marketing and sales operations. Without a significant internal team or the support of a third party to perform marketing and sales
functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against these more established companies. Even if we determine to perform sales, marketing, and
distribution functions ourselves, we could face a number of additional related risks, including:
we may not be able to attract and build an effective marketing department or sales force;
the cost of establishing a marketing department or sales force may exceed our available financial resources and the revenues generated by
reproxalap or any other product candidates that we may develop, in-license, or acquire; and
our direct sales and marketing efforts may not be successful.
If we are unable to successfully implement our commercialization plans and drive adoption by patients of our approved product candidates, if any,
through our sales, marketing, and commercialization efforts, then we will not be able to generate significant revenue, which will have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.
Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain regulatory and marketing approval of and commercialize
our product candidates, and may affect the prices we may obtain.
In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding
healthcare systems that could prevent or delay marketing approval for our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities, and affect our
ability to profitably sell our product candidates.
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for
pharmaceutical products. In addition, increased scrutiny by the United States Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent
marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements. Any new regulations or
revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of reproxalap or any future product candidates.
We are not sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance, or interpretations will be changed, or
what effect changes in regulations, statutes, legal interpretation, or policies, when and if promulgated, enacted, or adopted may have on our business in the
future. Such changes could, among other things, require:
changes to manufacturing methods;
additional studies, including clinical studies;
recall, replacement, or discontinuance of one or more of our products;
the payment of additional fees; or
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additional record keeping.
Each of these requirements would likely entail substantial time and cost and could adversely harm our business and our financial results. In addition,
delays in receipt of or failure to receive regulatory approvals for any future products would harm our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. We intend to seek approval to market our product candidates in both the United States and in foreign jurisdictions. If we obtain approval in one
or more foreign jurisdictions, we will be subject to rules and regulations in those jurisdictions relating to such product candidate. If reimbursement of our
future products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.
In the United States, the Medicare Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”) changed the way Medicare covers and pays for
pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursement methodology
based on average sales prices for drugs. In addition, this legislation authorized Medicare Part D prescription drug plans to use formulas where they can
limit the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. As a result of this legislation and the expansion of federal coverage of drug
products, we expect that there will be additional pressure to contain and reduce costs. These cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this
legislation could decrease the coverage and price that we receive for any approved products and could seriously harm our business. While the MMA
applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own
reimbursement rates, and any reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.
In early 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (together, “PPACA”), a sweeping law intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of
healthcare spending, enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose
new taxes and fees on the health industry, and impose additional health policy reforms. Effective October 1, 2010, the PPACA’s definition of “average
manufacturer price” was revised for reporting purposes, which could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states. Further, beginning in 2011, the
PPACA imposed a significant annual fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products. Substantial new provisions
affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may require us to modify our business practices with healthcare practitioners. The law appears likely to
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under Medicare, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs.
We may face uncertainties as a result of efforts to repeal and replace some or all of the provisions of the PPACA, which efforts have been
unsuccessful as of the date of the filing of this report. We cannot predict the ultimate form or timing of any repeal or replacement of PPACA or the effect
such repeal or replacement would have on our business. Regardless of the impact of repeal or replacement of PPACA on us, the government has shown
significant interest in pursuing healthcare reform and reducing healthcare costs.
While there have been efforts to repeal the law and enact alternative reforms, the Biden administration has indicated that it will support and expand
upon health reform. There can be no assurances that the implementation of PPACA or any subsequent modifications or related legal challenges will not
adversely impact our operations. Additionally, the pricing and reimbursement of pharmaceutical products continues to receive significant attention from
U.S. policymakers, the former Trump Administration, and others. For example, on January 31, 2019, the Department of Health and Human Services issued
a proposed rule that removes from existing anti-kickback statute safe harbor protection certain reductions in price paid by pharmaceutical manufacturers to
Medicare Part D plan sponsors, Medicaid MCOs, and those entities’ pharmacy benefit managers (“PBMs”), and adds two new safe harbors that protect
certain point-of-sale price reductions by pharmaceutical manufacturers as well as certain service fee payments from pharmaceutical manufacturer to PBMs.
The final rule, published on December 2, 2020, effective January 19, 2021, among other things, modifies the existing discount safe harbor by excluding
from the definition of “discount” eligible for safe-harbor protection, certain reductions in price or other remuneration from a manufacturer of a prescription
drug to plan sponsors under Medicare Part D or contracted PMBs. At this time, we cannot predict the impact that this increased scrutiny will have on our
business.
We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that
federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our products once approved or
additional pricing pressures, and may adversely affect our operating results. For example, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services issued an interim
final rule on November 27, 2020, designed to test whether a Most-Favored Nation model would help control growth in spending for Medicare Part B drugs
without adversely affecting quality of care. This followed an Executive Order issued in September 2020 that directed the Secretary of the U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services to implement new payment models under the Medicare Part B and Part D programs to curb “unfair” and high drug prices in
the United States. Implementation of this interim final rule has been blocked by a temporary restraining order and injunctions through
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various court actions. Nonetheless, we anticipate that there will be further U.S. federal and state proposals to implement governmental pricing controls and
limit the growth of healthcare costs, including the cost of prescription drugs.
The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations, and other payors of healthcare services to contain or
reduce costs of health care may adversely affect:
the demand for any product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval;
our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our product candidates;
our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;
our ability to identify and establish strategic partnerships;
the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and
the availability of capital.
If we market products in a manner that violates healthcare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate government price reporting laws, we may be subject to
civil or criminal penalties.
In addition to FDA restrictions on the marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of state and federal healthcare fraud and abuse laws
have been applied in recent years to restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. These laws include false claims statutes and antikickback statutes. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the safe harbors, it is possible that some of our business activities could be
subject to challenge under one or more of these laws.
Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the federal
government or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid. The federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute
prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving remuneration to induce, or in return for, purchasing,
leasing, ordering, or arranging for the purchase, lease, or order of any healthcare item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or other federally
financed healthcare programs. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand, and
prescribers, purchasers, and formula managers on the other. Although there are several statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain
common activities from prosecution, the exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce
prescribing, purchasing, or recommending may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Our practices may not in all
cases meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kickback liability.
Over the past few years, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of alleged
promotional and marketing activities, such as: allegedly providing free trips, free goods, sham consulting fees and grants, and other monetary benefits to
prescribers; reporting to pricing services inflated average wholesale prices that were then used by federal programs to set reimbursement rates; engaging in
off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted to Medicaid for non-covered, off-label uses; and submitting inflated best price information to the
Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates. Most states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback law and
false claims laws, which apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the
payor. Sanctions under these federal and state laws may include civil monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s products from reimbursement under
government programs, criminal fines, and imprisonment.
The FDA’s ability to review and approve new products may be hindered by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, ability to hire and
retain key personnel, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes.
The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, ability to
hire and retain key personnel, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result.
In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is
inherently fluid and unpredictable.
The ability of the FDA and other government agencies to properly administer their functions is highly dependent on the levels of government
funding and the ability to fill key leadership appointments, among various factors. Delays in filling or replacing key positions could significantly impact the
ability of the FDA and other agencies to fulfill their functions, and could greatly impact healthcare and the pharmaceutical industry.

50

In December 2016, the 21st Century Cures Act was signed into law, and was designed to advance medical innovation and empower the FDA with
the authority to directly hire positions related to drug and device development and review. In the past, the FDA was often unable to offer key leadership
candidates (including scientists) competitive compensation packages as compared to those offered by private industry. The 21st Century Cures Act is
designed to streamline the agency’s hiring process and enable the FDA to compete for leadership talent by expanding the narrow ranges that are provided in
the existing compensation structures.
Disruptions at the FDA and other governmental agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by
necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our operating results and business.
Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions would prevent us from marketing our products abroad.
We intend to market our product candidates internationally. In order to market our products in foreign jurisdictions, we will be required to obtain
separate regulatory approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and
jurisdictions and can involve additional testing, and the time required to obtain approval may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval.
Additionally, the foreign regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. For all of these reasons, we may
not obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other
countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other foreign countries or
jurisdictions or by the FDA. We may not be able to file for regulatory approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in
any market. The failure to obtain these approvals could harm our business materially.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of reproxalap or
our other product candidates.
We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of reproxalap and our other product candidates and will face an even
greater risk if we commercialize our product candidates. For example, we may be sued if reproxalap or our other product candidates allegedly cause injury
or are found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing, or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations
of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product candidate, negligence, strict liability, and a breach of
warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts.
If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidates. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the
merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
decreased demand for reproxalap or our other product candidates;
injury to our reputation;
withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
costs to defend the related litigation;
a diversion of management’s time and our resources;
substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;
loss of revenue;
the inability to continue to develop or commercialize reproxalap or our other product candidates; and
a decline in our stock price.
We maintain product liability insurance with $5.0 million in coverage. Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an
acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of reproxalap or our other product
candidates. Although we will maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in an
amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. Our insurance policies will also
have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We may have to pay any amounts awarded by a
court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain,
sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
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We and our development partners, third-party manufacturers, and suppliers use biological materials and may use hazardous materials, and any claims
relating to improper handling, storage, or disposal of these materials could be time consuming or costly.
We and our development partners, third-party manufacturers, and suppliers may use hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological agents
and compounds that could be dangerous to human health and safety or the environment. Our operations and the operations of our development partner,
third-party manufacturers, and suppliers also produce hazardous waste products. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations govern the use, generation,
manufacture, storage, handling, and disposal of these materials and wastes. Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations may be
expensive, and current or future environmental laws and regulations may impair our product development efforts. In addition, we cannot entirely eliminate
the risk of accidental injury or contamination from these materials or wastes. We do not carry specific biological or hazardous waste insurance coverage
and our property, casualty, and general liability insurance policies specifically exclude coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous
waste exposure or contamination. Accordingly, in the event of contamination or injury we could be held liable for damages or be penalized with fines in an
amount exceeding our resources, and our clinical trials or regulatory approvals could be suspended.
We and any of our future development partners will be required to report to regulatory authorities if any of our approved products cause or contribute
to adverse medical events, and any failure to do so would result in sanctions that would materially harm our business.
If we and any of our future development partners are successful in commercializing our products, the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities will
require that we and any of our future development partners report certain information about adverse medical events if those products may have caused or
contributed to those adverse events. The timing of our obligation to report would be triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as well as
the nature of the event. We and any of our future development partners may fail to report adverse events we become aware of within the prescribed
timeframe or to perform inadequate investigations of their causes. We and any of our future development partners may also fail to appreciate that we have
become aware of a reportable adverse event, especially if it is not reported to us as an adverse event or if it is an adverse event that is unexpected or
removed in time from the use of our products. If we and any of our future development partners fail to comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA or a
foreign regulatory authority could take enforcement action including the issuance of a Warning Letter, the requirement of a labeling change, the initiation of
a criminal prosecution, the imposition of civil monetary penalties, the seizure of our products, or delay in approval or clearance of future products.
Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties
We rely and will continue to rely on outsourcing arrangements for many of our activities, including clinical development and supply of reproxalap and
our other product candidates.
As of September 30, 2021, we had only 11 full-time employees and, as a result, we rely, and expect to continue to rely, on outsourcing arrangements
for a significant portion of our activities, including clinical research, data collection and analysis, manufacturing, financial reporting and accounting, and
human resources, as well as for certain functions required of publicly traded companies. We may have limited control over third parties and we cannot
guarantee that any third party will perform its obligations in an effective and timely manner.
In addition, during challenging and uncertain economic environments, in tight credit markets and during public health epidemics, such as the
COVID-19 pandemic, there may be a disruption or delay in the performance of our third party contractors, suppliers, or partners. If such third parties are
unable to satisfy their commitments to us, our business and results of operations would be adversely affected.
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If any third party does not meet our deadlines or otherwise conduct the trials as required and in
accordance with regulations, our clinical development programs could be delayed or unsuccessful and we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for or commercialize our product candidates when expected, or at all.
We do not have the ability to conduct all aspects of our preclinical testing or clinical trials ourselves. We are dependent on third parties to conduct
the clinical trials for reproxalap and for our other product candidates and, therefore, the timing of the initiation and completion of these trials is controlled
by such third parties and may occur on substantially different timing from our estimates. Specifically, we use CROs to conduct our clinical trials and we
also rely on medical institutions, clinical investigators, and consultants to conduct our trials in accordance with our clinical protocols and regulatory
requirements. Our CROs, investigators, and other third parties play a significant role in the conduct of these trials and subsequent collection and analysis of
data.
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There is no guarantee that CROs, investigators, or other third parties on which we rely for administration and conduct of our clinical trials will
devote adequate time and resources to such trials or perform as contractually required. If any of these third parties fails to meet expected deadlines, fails to
adhere to our clinical protocols, or otherwise performs in a substandard manner, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed, or terminated. If any of our
clinical trial sites terminates for any reason, we may experience the loss of follow-up information on subjects enrolled in our ongoing clinical trials unless
we are able to transfer those subjects to another qualified clinical trial site. In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific
advisors or consultants to us from time to time, and may receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. The COVID-19 pandemic
or any worsening of the global business and economic environment may have the effect of heightening or exacerbating these risks.
Some of our product candidates may be studied in clinical trials co-sponsored by organizations or agencies other than us, or in investigator-initiated
clinical trials, which means we have minimal or no control over the conduct of such trials.
We currently anticipate that part of our strategy for pursuing the wide range of indications potentially addressed by our product candidates, including
ADX-1612, will involve investigator-initiated clinical trials. Investigator-initiated clinical trials pose similar risks as those set forth elsewhere in this “Risk
Factor” section relating to our internal clinical trials. While investigator-initiated trials may provide us with clinical data that can inform our future
development strategy, we generally have less control over the conduct and design of the trials. Because we are not the sponsors of investigator-initiated
trials, we do not control the protocols, administration, or conduct of the trials, including follow-up with patients and ongoing collection of data after
treatment. As a result, we are subject to risks associated with the way investigator-initiated trials are conducted. In particular, we may be named in lawsuits
that would lead to increased costs associated with legal defense. Additional risks include difficulties or delays in communicating with investigators or
administrators, procedural delays and other timing issues, and difficulties or differences in interpreting data. Third-party investigators may design clinical
trials with clinical endpoints that are more difficult to achieve, or in other ways that increase the risk of negative clinical trial results compared to clinical
trials that we may design on our own. Negative results in investigator-initiated clinical trials could have a material adverse effect on our prospects and the
perception of our product candidates. As a result, our lack of control over the conduct and timing of, and communications with the FDA regarding,
investigator-sponsored trials expose us to additional risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside our control, and the occurrence of which could
adversely affect the commercial prospects for our product candidates.
We rely completely on third parties to supply drug substance and manufacture drug product for our clinical trials and preclinical studies. We intend to
rely on other third parties to produce commercial supplies of product candidates, and our dependence on third parties could adversely impact our
business.
We are completely dependent on third-party suppliers of the drug substance and drug product for our product candidates. If third-party suppliers do
not supply sufficient quantities of materials to us on a timely basis and in accordance with applicable specifications and other regulatory requirements,
there could be a significant interruption of our supplies, which would adversely affect clinical development. Furthermore, if any of our contract
manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications within regulatory requirements, we will not be able to secure
and/or maintain regulatory approval, if any, for our product candidates.
We also rely on our contract manufacturers to purchase from third-party suppliers the materials necessary to produce our product candidates for our
anticipated clinical trials. We do not have any control over the process or timing of the acquisition of raw materials by our contract manufacturers.
Moreover, we currently do not have agreements in place for the commercial production of these raw materials. Any significant delay in the supply of a
product candidate or the raw material components thereof for an ongoing clinical trial, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or actions taken in
response to it, could considerably delay completion of that clinical trial, product candidate testing, and potential regulatory approval of that product
candidate.
We do not expect to have the resources or capacity to commercially manufacture any of our proposed product candidates if approved and will likely
continue to be dependent on third-party manufacturers. Our dependence on third parties to manufacture and supply clinical trial materials and any approved
product candidates may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates on a timely basis.
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We may not be successful in establishing and maintaining development, commercial, or other strategic partnerships, which could adversely affect our
ability to develop and commercialize product candidates.
We have in the past, and may in the future, choose to enter into development or other strategic partnerships, including collaborations with major
biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We face significant competition in seeking appropriate partners and the negotiation process is time consuming
and complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish other development partnerships or other alternative arrangements for any of
our product candidates or programs because our research and development pipeline may be insufficient, our product candidates or programs may be
deemed to be at too early a stage of development for collaborative effort, and/or third parties may not view our product candidates or programs as having
the requisite commercial or technical potential. Even if we are successful in our efforts to establish development or commercial partnerships, the terms that
we agree upon may not be favorable to us and we may not be able to maintain such partnerships if, for example, development or approval of a product
candidate is delayed or sales of an approved product candidate are below expectations. Any delay in entering into development partnership agreements
related to our product candidates could delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates and reduce competitiveness, if approved.
Moreover, if we fail to maintain partnerships related to our product candidates:
the development of certain of our current or future product candidates may be terminated or delayed;
our cash expenditures related to development and commercialization of certain of our current or future product candidates would increase
significantly and we may need to seek additional financing;
we may be required to hire additional employees or otherwise develop expertise, such as sales and marketing expertise, for which we have not
budgeted; and
we will bear all of the risk related to the development and commercialization of any such product candidates.
We may not realize the benefits of our current or future strategic alliances.
We have in the past, and may in the future, form strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into licensing arrangements with
third parties that we believe will complement or augment our existing business, including the continued development or commercialization of reproxalap or
our other product candidates. Strategic alliances may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near- and long-term expenditures,
issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, or disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking
appropriate strategic partners, and the negotiation process is time-consuming and complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish a
strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for reproxalap or our other product candidates because third parties may view the risk of
development failure as too significant or the commercial opportunity for our product candidate as too limited. We cannot be certain that, following a
strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenues or specific net income that justifies such transaction.
Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property
Our success depends on our and our licensors ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies.
Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection for our product
candidates, proprietary technologies, and the use of our product candidates or proprietary technologies as well as our ability to operate without infringing
upon the proprietary rights of others. There can be no assurance that our patent applications or those of our licensors will result in additional patents being
issued or that issued patents will afford sufficient protection against competitors with similar technology, nor can there be any assurance that the patents
issued will not be infringed, designed around, or invalidated by third parties. Even issued patents may later be found unenforceable or may be modified or
revoked in proceedings instituted by third parties before various patent offices or in courts. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is
uncertain. Only limited protection may be available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. This
failure to properly protect the intellectual property rights relating to these product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
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Composition-of-matter patents on the active pharmaceutical ingredient are generally considered to be the strongest form of intellectual property
protection for pharmaceutical products, as such patents provide protection without regard to any method of use. While we have issued composition-ofmatter patents in the United States and other countries for reproxalap and other product candidates, we cannot be certain that the claims in our patent
applications covering composition-of-matter of early stage candidates will be considered patentable by the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(“USPTO”) and courts in the United States or by the patent offices and courts in foreign countries, nor can we be certain that the claims in our issued
composition-of-matter patents will not be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged. Method-of-use patents protect the use of a product for the specified
method. This type of patent does not prevent a competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical to our product for an indication that is
outside the scope of the patented method. Moreover, even if competitors do not actively promote their product for our targeted indications, physicians may
prescribe these products “off-label.” Although off-label prescriptions may infringe or contribute to the infringement of method-of-use patents, the practice
is common and such infringement is difficult to prevent or prosecute. In addition, there are possibly treatment compositions and methods that we have not
conceived of or attempted to patent, and other parties may discover and patent approaches and compositions that are similar to or different from ours.
The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our future
development partners will be successful in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. These risks and uncertainties include the
following:
the USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment,
and other provisions during the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or
patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able
to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case;
patent applications may not result in any patents being issued;
patents that may be issued or in-licensed may be challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented, found to be unenforceable, or
otherwise may not provide any competitive advantage;
our competitors, many of whom have substantially greater resources than we do and many of whom have made significant investments in
competing technologies, may seek or may have already obtained patents that will limit, interfere with, or eliminate our ability to make, use,
and sell our potential product candidates;
there may be significant pressure on the United States government and international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent
protection both inside and outside the United States for disease treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public policy regarding
worldwide health concerns; and
countries other than the United States may have patent laws less favorable to patentees than those upheld by United States courts, allowing
foreign competitors a better opportunity to create, develop, and market competing product candidates.
In addition, we rely on the protection of our trade secrets and proprietary know-how. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and
unpatented know-how, including entering into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and confidential information and inventions agreements with
employees, consultants, and advisors, third parties may still obtain this information or may come upon this or similar information independently. If any of
these events occurs or if we otherwise lose protection for our trade secrets or proprietary know-how, the value of our trade secrets or proprietary know-how
may be greatly reduced.
Claims by third parties that we infringe their proprietary rights may result in liability for damages or prevent or delay our developmental and
commercialization efforts.
The biotechnology industry has been characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Because patent
applications are maintained in secrecy until the application is published, we may be unaware of third party patents that may be infringed by
commercialization of reproxalap or our other product candidates. In addition, identification of third party patent rights that may be relevant to our
technology is difficult because patent searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among patents, incomplete databases, and the difficulty in
assessing the meaning of patent claims. Any claims of patent infringement asserted by third parties would be time consuming and could likely:
result in costly litigation;
divert the time and attention of our technical personnel and management;
cause development delays;
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prevent us from commercializing reproxalap or our other product candidates until the asserted patent expires or is held finally invalid or not
infringed in a court of law;
require us to develop non-infringing technology; or
require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements.
Although no third party has asserted a claim of patent infringement against us, others may hold proprietary rights that could prevent reproxalap or
our other product candidates from being marketed. Any patent-related legal action against us claiming damages and seeking to enjoin commercial activities
relating to our product candidate or processes could subject us to potential liability for damages and require us to obtain a license to continue to
manufacture or market reproxalap or our other product candidates. We cannot predict whether we would prevail in any such actions or that any license
required under any of these patents would be made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, we cannot be sure that we could
redesign our product candidate or processes to avoid infringement, if necessary. Accordingly, an adverse determination in a judicial or administrative
proceeding, or the failure to obtain necessary licenses, could prevent us from developing and commercializing reproxalap or our other product candidates,
which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Any such claims against us could also be deemed to constitute an event of default under the Loan and Security Agreement. In the case of a
continuing event of default under the loan, Hercules, could, among other remedies, elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and
payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. In the event we do not or are not able to repay the obligations at the time a default
occurred, Hercules may elect to commence and prosecute bankruptcy and/or other insolvency proceedings, or proceed against the collateral granted to
Hercules under the loan.
Our issued patents could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court.
If we or any of our future development partners were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering one of our
product candidates, or one of our future product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that our patent is invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent
litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could
be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an
unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO, or
made a misleading statement during prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims before the USPTO, even outside the context of litigation. The
outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to validity, for example, we cannot be certain that there
is no invalidating prior art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of
invalidity and/or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on such product candidate. Such a loss of patent
protection would have a material adverse impact on our business.
We may fail to comply with any of our obligations under existing or future agreements pursuant to which we license rights or technology, which could
result in the loss of rights or technology that are material to our business.
We are a party to technology licenses, including the in-license agreement for ADX-1612 and an in-license agreement for ADX-2191, and we may
enter into additional licenses in the future. Such licenses do, and may in the future, impose commercial, contingent payment, royalty, insurance,
indemnification, and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, in which
event we could lose valuable rights under our collaboration agreements and our ability to develop product candidates could be impaired. Additionally,
should such a license agreement be terminated for any reason, there may be a limited number of replacement licensors, and a significant amount of time
may be required to transition to a replacement licensor.
Our rights to develop and commercialize ADX-1612 and ADX-2191 are each subject in part to the terms and conditions of a third party license,
pursuant to which we have acquired exclusive rights to ADX-1612 and ADX-2191 and other intellectual property. Our rights with respect to the intellectual
property to develop and commercialize ADX-1612 and ADX-2191 may terminate, in whole or in part, if we fail to meet certain milestones contained in
each of our license agreements relating to the development and commercialization of ADX-1612 and ADX-2191. We may also lose our rights to develop
and commercialize either of ADX-1612 or ADX-2191 if we fail to pay required milestones or royalties. In the event of an early termination of our license
agreement, all rights licensed and developed by us under this agreement may be extinguished, which may have an adverse effect on our business and results
of operations.
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We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees, consultants, or agents have
wrongfully used or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers.
As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry, we engage the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our
product candidates. Many of these consultants and our employees were previously employed at, or may have previously provided or may be currently
providing consulting services to, other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies including our competitors or potential competitors. We may become
subject to claims that our company or an employee, consultant, or agent inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other information
proprietary to their former employers or their former or current clients. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are
successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management team.
If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments by extending the patent terms and obtaining data exclusivity for our product
candidate, our business may be materially harmed.
Depending upon the timing, duration, and specifics of FDA marketing approval of reproxalap or other product candidates, one or more of our
United States patents may be eligible for limited patent term restoration under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984,
referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for
patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, we may not be granted an extension because of, for
example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents, or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable
requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain
patent term extension or restoration or the term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products
following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.
If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our
business may be adversely affected.
If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest, and
our business may be adversely affected. Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, or declared
generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to
build name recognition among potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks
similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade
name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or
unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then
we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business may be adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to
trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights, or other intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources, and could adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations.
Changes in United States patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
As is the case with other biotechnology companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and
enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves technological and legal complexity. Therefore, obtaining and enforcing biotechnology patents
is costly, time consuming, and inherently uncertain. In addition, Congress may pass patent reform legislation. The Supreme Court has ruled on several
patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available or weakening the rights of patent owners. In addition to increasing
uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents,
once obtained. Depending on decisions by the United States Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could
change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents, or to enforce our existing patents and patents we might obtain in the
future.
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
While we have issued composition-of-matter patents covering reproxalap and certain of our other product candidates in the United States and other
countries, filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on reproxalap and our other product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be
prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States may be less extensive than those in the United
States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United
States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or
importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions
where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products, and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we
have patent protection, but where enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates, and
our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal
systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection,
particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing
products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and
divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, could put our
patent applications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and
the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights
around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
An active trading market for our common stock may not develop or be sustained and investors may not be able to resell their shares at or above the
price at which they purchased them.
We have a limited history as a public company. An active trading market for our shares may never develop or be sustained. In the absence of an
active trading market for our common stock, investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price they paid or at the time that they
would like to sell. In addition, an inactive market may impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other
companies or technologies by using our shares as consideration, which, in turn, could harm our business.
The trading price of the shares of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could
incur substantial losses.
Our stock price has been and will likely continue to be volatile for the foreseeable future. The stock market in general and the market for
biotechnology companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular
companies. As a result of this volatility, investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price they paid. The market price for our
common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:
results of clinical trials, and the results of trials of our competitors or those of other companies in our market sector;
the results and status of our research and development and regulatory plans for our product candidates;
the expectations of investors or securities analysts regarding our business and clinical development program, including interim or final topline results that we may announce;
regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;
our ability to enroll patients in our clinical trials;
variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;
changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems, especially in light of current reforms to the United States healthcare system;
announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;
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market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors and issuance of securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;
sales of our stock by insiders and 5% stockholders;
trading volume of our common stock;
general economic, industry, and market conditions other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control;
additions or departures of key personnel; and
intellectual property, product liability, or other litigation against us.
In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action lawsuits against biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies following periods of
volatility in the market prices of these companies’ stock. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of The Nasdaq Capital Market could result in a delisting of our common stock.
If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of The Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”), such as the corporate governance requirements or
the minimum closing bid price requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to de-list our common stock. Such a delisting would likely have a negative effect on the
price of our common stock and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common stock when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, we
would expect to take actions to restore our compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements, but we can provide no assurance that any such action taken by
us would allow our common stock to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity of our common stock, prevent our common
stock from dropping below the Nasdaq minimum bid price requirement, or prevent future non-compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements.
Because a small number of our existing stockholders own a majority of our voting stock, your ability to influence corporate matters will be limited.
As of September 30, 2021, our executive officers, directors, and greater than 5% stockholders, in the aggregate, own approximately 35% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, such persons, acting together, will have the ability to control our management and business affairs and substantially
all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and approval of any significant transaction. This
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover, or
other business combination involving us, or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
business, even if such a transaction would benefit other stockholders.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock, and do not currently intend to do so for the foreseeable future. We
currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation, and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or
paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, the Hercules Credit Facility currently prohibits, and any future debt financing
arrangements may contain terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of, dividends that may be declared or paid on our common stock. Any return to
stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend
upon any future appreciation in the value of our common stock. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even
maintain the price at which our stockholders have purchased shares.
A substantial number of shares of our common stock could be sold into the public market in the near future, which could depress our stock price.
Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market could reduce the prevailing market prices for our common stock.
Substantially all of our outstanding common stock is eligible for sale as is common stock issuable under vested and exercisable stock options. If our
existing stockholders sell a large number of shares of our common stock, or the public market perceives that existing stockholders might sell shares of
common stock, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. Existing stockholder sales might also make it more difficult for us to sell
additional equity securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate.
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We are a smaller reporting company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies will
make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are a smaller reporting company under Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. For as long as we continue to be a smaller reporting
company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not smaller
reporting companies, including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot
predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on smaller reporting company exemptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.
We are incurring significant increased costs and demands upon management as a result of operating as a public company.
As a public company, and particularly if and after we cease to be a “smaller reporting company,” we incur significant legal, accounting, and other
expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We ceased to be an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, on December 31, 2019.
As a result, we expect to incur additional expenses and to devote increased management time toward ensuring compliance with those requirements
applicable to companies that are not emerging growth companies. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, which require, among other things, that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, annual,
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently
adopted by the SEC and The Nasdaq Capital Market to implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, imposes significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices.
Further, in 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are significant corporate
governance and executive compensation related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these
areas such as “say on pay” and proxy access. Stockholder activism, the current political environment, and the current high level of government intervention
and regulatory reform may result in substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the
manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.
We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to continue to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and
to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. If public company rules and regulations divert the attention of our management and personnel
from other business concerns, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Increased costs associated with public
company expenses will decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the
prices of our products or services. For example, public company rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director
and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the
amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements, the impact of which could also make it more difficult for us to attract
and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees, or as executive officers.
If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial
statements could be impaired, which could harm our operating results, investors’ views of us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management is required to report upon the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. The rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex
and require significant documentation, testing, and possible remediation. To comply with the requirements of being a reporting company under the
Exchange Act, we will be required to continue to upgrade and maintain our systems including information technology; implement additional financial and
management controls, reporting systems, and procedures; and hire additional accounting and finance staff.
However, as a smaller reporting company and a non-accelerated filer and in accordance with new SEC rules effective in 2020, our independent
registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404
for as long as we are not deemed an “accelerated filer” or “large accelerated filer.” The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management
to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation.
If we are unable to establish and maintain effective internal controls it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.
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As we grow, we plan to hire additional personnel and engage in external temporary resources and may implement, document, and modify policies
and procedures to maintain effective internal controls. However, we may identify deficiencies and weaknesses or fail to remediate previously identified
deficiencies in our internal controls. If material weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal controls exist and go undetected or unremediated, our financial
statements could contain material misstatements that, when discovered in the future, could cause us to fail to meet our future reporting obligations and
cause the price of our common stock to decline. In addition, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities,
which would require additional financial and management resources.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports or publish unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market, or our competitors. We currently have limited research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If other securities or industry
analysts do not commence coverage of our company, the trading price for our stock could be negatively impacted. If one or more of the analysts who
covers us downgrades our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover us or fails to regularly publish reports
on us, interest in our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a
change in our management. These provisions include:
authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without
stockholder approval;
limiting the removal of directors by the stockholders;
creating a staggered board of directors;
prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders;
permitting our board of directors to accelerate the vesting of outstanding option grants upon certain transactions that result in a change of
control; and
establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon
at stockholder meetings.
In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which limits the ability of stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with us. Although we believe these
provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockholders by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our board of
directors, the provisions would apply even if an offer rejected by our board were considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions
may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.
Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal
district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the
Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal
affairs doctrine. This provision would not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which
the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our amended and restated bylaws further provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be
the exclusive forum for
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resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These choices of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to
bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees and may discourage these types of
lawsuits. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation or bylaws has been
challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware
courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than
those designated in the exclusive-forum provisions, and there can be no assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a court in those other
jurisdictions. If a court were to find the exclusive-forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business.
We are subject to litigation risks.
From time to time, we may become involved in various litigation matters and claims, including regulatory proceedings, administrative proceedings,
governmental investigations, and contract disputes. We may face potential claims or liability for, among other things, breach of contract, defamation, libel,
fraud, or negligence. We may also face employment-related litigation, including claims of age discrimination, sexual harassment, gender discrimination,
immigration violations, or other local, state, and federal labor law violations. Because of the uncertain nature of litigation and insurance coverage decisions,
the outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of them could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and the trading price of our securities. In addition, legal fees and costs
associated with prosecuting and defending litigation matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and the trading price of our securities.
We could be subject to securities class action litigation.
In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. The
risk of securities class action litigation is especially relevant for us because biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant
stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources,
which could harm our business.
Our insurance policies are expensive and protect us only from some business risks, which leaves us exposed to significant uninsured liabilities.
We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. Some of the policies we currently maintain include general liability,
product and clinical trial liability, workers’ compensation, and directors’ and officers’ insurance. We do not know, however, if we will be able to maintain
existing insurance with adequate levels of coverage. Any significant, uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which would adversely
affect our working capital and results of operations.
U.S. federal income tax reform could adversely affect us.
New legislation or regulation which could affect our tax burden could be enacted by any governmental authority. We cannot predict the timing or
extent of such tax-related developments which could have a negative impact on our financial results. Additionally, we use our best judgment in attempting
to quantify and reserve for these tax obligations. However, a challenge by a taxing authority, our ability to utilize tax benefits such as carryforwards or tax
credits, or a deviation from other tax-related assumptions could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial conditions.
Issues with product quality could have a material adverse effect upon our business, subject us to regulatory actions and cause a loss of customer
confidence in us or our products.
Our success depends upon the quality of our products. Quality controls, assurance, and management plays an essential role in meeting customer
requirements, preventing defects, improving our product candidates and services, and assuring the safety and efficacy of our product candidates. Our future
success depends on our ability to maintain and continuously improve our quality management program. A quality or safety issue may result in adverse
inspection reports, warning letters, product recalls or seizures, monetary sanctions, injunctions to halt manufacture and distribution of products, civil or
criminal sanctions, costly litigation, refusal of a government to grant approvals and licenses, restrictions on operations, or withdrawal of existing approvals
and licenses. An inability to address a quality or safety issue in an effective and timely manner may also cause negative publicity, a loss of customer
confidence in us or our future products, which may result in difficulty in successfully launching product candidates and the loss of sales, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our business could be negatively affected as a result of the actions of activist stockholders.
Proxy contests have been waged against many companies in the biotechnology industry over the last few years. We may be particularly vulnerable
to activist stockholders due to fluctuations in our stock price. If faced with a proxy contest or other type of shareholder activism, we may not be able to
respond successfully to the contest or dispute, which would be disruptive to our business. Even if we are successful, our business could be adversely
affected by a proxy contest or shareholder dispute involving us or our partners because:
responding to proxy contests and other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting operations and diverting
the attention of management and employees;
perceived uncertainties as to future direction may result in the loss of potential acquisitions, collaborations, or in-licensing opportunities, and
may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners; and
if individuals are elected to a board of directors with a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively and timely implement
our strategic plan and create additional value for our stockholders.
These actions could cause our stock price to experience periods of volatility.
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Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.
Item 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
Item 5.

Other Information.

None.
Item 6.

Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant, (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 7,
2014, and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 1, 2020,
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1

Third Amendment to Lease between WLC Three VI, L.L.C. and the Registrant, dated as of August 12, 2021.

31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this quarterly report on Form 10-Q is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc.

October 28, 2021

/s/

Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.

Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc.

October 28, 2021

/s/

Joshua Reed
Joshua Reed

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This Third Amendment to Lease (“Third Amendment”) is dated as of August 12, 2021 by and between 131 Hartwell LLC, a
Massachusetts limited liability company (“Landlord”), successor-in-interest to WLC Three VI, L.L.C., a Delaware limited
liability company (“Original Landlord”) and Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc. (“Tenant”), a Delaware corporation.
WHEREAS, Original Landlord, and Tenant are parties to a lease dated September 20, 2017 (“Original Lease”) regarding
certain premises consisting of the “Original Premises” as defined therein; and
WHEREAS, Original Landlord and Original Tenant amended the Original Lease by First Amendment to Lease dated
November 27, 2017 adding the “Phase III Premises” as defined therein, that increased the Premises to 9,351 RSF; and by Second
Amendment to Lease dated October 7, 2020, extending the Term; and
WHEREAS, Landlord has acquired the interest of Original Landlord; and
WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to further amend the Lease as provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the receipt and legal sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:
1. Defined Terms. Capitalized Terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Lease. The
Original Lease, as amended by the First Amendment and by the Second Amendment, shall hereinafter be referred to as the
“Lease”.
2. Extension of Term. The Term of the Lease is hereby extended for a period commencing January 1, 2022 (the
“Extended Term Commencement Date”) through and including June 30, 2023 (the “Third Amendment Extended Term”).
3. Base Rent. Commencing on the Extended Term Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay Base Rent in accordance
with the terms of the Lease as follows:
Period
1/1/22 – 12/31/22
1/1/23 – 06/30/23

Annual Base Rent Monthly Base Rent
$252,477.00
$21,039.75
$257,152.50
$21,429.38

Rent PSF
$27.00
$27.50

In addition, Tenant shall pay all electricity used at the Premises in accordance with section 14 of the Lease.
4. Additional Option to Extend. Provided Tenant is not in default under the Lease either at the time of giving notice of
its exercise of this additional option to extend or at the end of the Third Amendment Extended Term, Tenant may, by giving nine
month’s written notice to

Landlord, extend the term of this Lease beyond the Third Amendment Extended Term for, at Tenant’s election, either an
additional six (6) or twelve (12) months (the “Third Amendment Additional Extended Term”). If Tenant elects to exercise its
option for the Third Amendment Additional Extended Term, then Rent shall be calculated as provided in Section 3 above but at a
rate per square foot equal to $28.50.
5. Broker. Except for CBRE and Cushman & Wakefield, each party represents and warrants to the other that they have
not made any agreement or taken any action which may cause anyone to become entitled to a commission as a result of the
transactions contemplated by this Amendment, and each will indemnify and defend the other from any and all claims, actual or
threatened, for compensation by any such Second person by reason of such party’s breach of their representation or warranty
contained in this Amendment. Landlord will pay any commission due to the named brokers hereunder pursuant to a separate
agreement subject to execution and delivery of this Amendment by Landlord and Tenant.
6.

Miscellaneous.
(a) The Lease shall be modified such that each reference to the Lease contained therein shall be deemed to refer
to the Lease as amended by this Third Amendment.
(b) Except as specifically modified or amended herein, the Lease remains unchanged and in full force and effect
and is hereby ratified and confirmed in every respect.
(c) In the event of a conflict between this Third Amendment and the Lease, this Third Amendment shall control.
(d) This Third Amendment shall not be effective until it has been duly executed by the parties hereto.
(e) This Third Amendment may be executed in counterparts, which taken together shall constitute one and the
same instrument.

7. Addresses for Notices. All notices sent by Landlord to Tenant shall be sent in accordance with the Lease to Tenant
at the Premises.
All notices from Tenant to Landlord shall be sent in accordance with the Lease to:
131 Hartwell LLC
c/o Azad Legacy Partners
131 Hartwell Avenue
Lexington, MA 02421
Attn: Robert Parsekian

With a copy to:
Rubin and Rudman
c/o Paul Baccari, Esq.
53 State Street
Boston, MA 02109

Executed as a sealed instrument this 12th day of August 2021.
Landlord:
131 HARTWELL LLC

By: /s/ Robert Parsekian
Robert Parsekian
Authorized Person

Tenant:
Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc.

By: /s/ Joshua Reed
Name: Joshua Reed
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Todd C. Brady, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

October 28, 2021

/s/ Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.
Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Joshua Reed, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

October 28, 2021

/s/ Joshua Reed
Joshua Reed
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of Aldeyra Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to the best of such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
October 28, 2021

/s/ Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.
Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

October 28, 2021

/s/ Joshua Reed
Joshua Reed
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) or its staff upon request. This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not
deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing.

